General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2

# Governance of NSW universities

Ordered to be printed 1 June 2009 according to Standing Order 231

New South Wales Parliamentary Library cataloguing-in-publication data:

#### New South Wales. Parliament. Legislative Council. General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2

Governance of NSW universities : [report] / General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2. [Sydney, N.S.W.] : the Committee, 2009. – xiv, 107 p. ; 30 cm. (Report ; no. 30)

Chair: Hon. Robyn Parker, MLC. "June 2009". ISBN 9781921286360

- 1. Universities and colleges—New South Wales--Administration.
- I. Title.
- II. Title: Governance of NSW universities.
- III. Parker, Robyn.
- IV. Series: New South Wales. Parliament. Legislative Council. General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2. Report ; no. 30

DDC 378.101109944

# How to contact the Committee

Members of the General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 can be contacted through the Committee Secretariat. Written correspondence and enquiries should be directed to:

The Director General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 Legislative Council Parliament House, Macquarie Street Sydney New South Wales 2000 Internet www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/gpsc2 Email gpscno2@parliament.nsw.gov.au Telephone 9230 3367 Facsimile 9230 3544

# Terms of reference

That the General Purpose Standing Committee No 2 inquire into and report on the current state of governance of NSW universities and in particular:

- 1. Any apparent lack of clarity in the roles of governing bodies and Vice-Chancellors and the consequential opportunities for conflict
- 2. Any apparent lack of clarity in the delineation of duties of governing bodies and the Chancellors
- 3. Identification of the roles and responsibilities of the Vice-Chancellor, the governing body and the Chancellor in relation to the formation of University policy and grievance procedures, and the communication of such policies to the student body
- 4. The appropriateness of changes in the duties and responsibilities of governing body members
- 5. Opportunities for governing bodies and chancellors to intervene in the responsibilities that more properly lie with the Vice-Chancellor as Chief Executive Officer
- 6. Current and possible future mechanisms for reviewing the performance of chancellors and governing body members in discharging their responsibilities
- 7. Protocols for addressing poor performance of chancellors and governing body members
- 8. The representation on governing bodies, and their committees, of staff and students and the current and appropriate balance between external members and elected representatives, and
- 9. Proposals for changes to the various acts governing NSW universities and to the National Higher Education Governance Protocols to address any systemic causes found
- 10. Any other related matter<sup>1</sup>.

These terms of reference were self-referred by the Committee on 13 October 2008

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> LC Minutes No. 68, 21 October 2008, Item 18, p 817-818

## Committee membership

The Hon Robyn Parker MLC The Hon Christine Robertson MLC The Hon Tony Catanzariti MLC The Hon Greg Donnelly MLC The Hon Marie Ficarra MLC Dr John Kaye MLC<sup>\*</sup> Revd the Hon Dr Gordon Moyes MLC<sup>\*\*</sup> Liberal Party Australian Labor Party Australian Labor Party Australian Labor Party Liberal Party The Greens Independent Chair Deputy Chair

<sup>\*</sup> Substituting for Ms Lee Rhiannon MLC

 <sup>\*\*</sup> Dr Moyes was a member of the Christian Democratic Party until 5 May 2009 (LC Minutes No. 96, 5 May 2009, Item 20, p 1115)

# Table of contents

	Chair's foreword Summary of key issues Summary of recommendations	ix xxii xiii
Chapter 1	Introduction	1
	Terms of reference	1
	<b>Conduct of the Inquiry</b> Submissions Hearings	<b>1</b> 1 1
	Terminology	2
	Report structure	2
Chapter 2	Universities in transition	5
	Changes to the higher education sector	5
	Moving towards a more commercial focus	6
	Recent higher education reviews Higher Education Management Review 1995 Higher Education at the Crossroads 2002 Victorian Review of University Governance 2002 Joint Committee on Higher Education Review of National Governance Protocols Victorian Higher Education Legislation Review 2008 Review of Australian Higher Education 2008 NSW Auditor-General's Report to Parliament 2009 Committee comment	<b>8</b> 9 10 11 12 13 13 14
Chapter 3	The regulatory framework for NSW universities	17
	What is governance?	17
	The regulatory framework NSW Legislation	<b>17</b> 18
	<b>Key governance provisions of State legislation</b> Governing body Vice-Chancellor Chancellor Committee comment	<b>20</b> 20 23 24 24

Chapter 4	Size and composition of governing bodies	27
	Size of governing bodies	27
	Current size of governing bodies	27
	Should governing bodies be smaller?	28
	Should university Acts provide greater flexibility with regard to size?	31
	Committee comment	31
	Composition of governing bodies	32
	Benefits of staff, student and alumni members	32
	Criticisms of staff, student and alumni members	34
	Selection of staff, student and alumni representatives	36
	Tenure of student representatives	38
	Alumni representation	39
	Ministerial appointments	41
	Committee comment	43
Chapter 5	Structural issues	47
	Remuneration of governing body members	47
	Committee comment	48
	Vice-Chancellors' voting rights	49
	Committee comment	50
	Membership of audit and remuneration committees	50
	Committee comment	52
	Disclosure of material interests by governing body members	52
	Committee comment	54
	Power to dismiss a Chancellor	54
	Committee comment	58
Chapter 6	Professional development, performance evaluation and recruitment	59
	Induction and professional development	59
	Importance of induction and professional development	59
	Current professional development practice	60
	Improving induction and professional development	61
	Training for Chancellors Committee comment	63 64
	Performance evaluation	65
	Current performance evaluation of the governing body	65
	Improving performance evaluation	67
	Committee comment	69
	Recruitment of a Chancellor	70
	Committee comment	71

Chapter 7	The clarity of governance roles	73
	Good governance and role clarity	73
	Governance roles and functions	73
	The role of a university governing body	74
	The role of a Chancellor	74
	The role of a Vice-Chancellor	76
	The relationship between a governing body, Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor	76
	Committee comment	78
	Is there a need to further clarify university governance roles?	78
	Opposition to further clarification of governance roles	79
	Opposition to further prescription of governance roles	79
	Tension between governance roles	80
	The importance of a healthy governance culture	81
	Committee comment	82
Appendix 1	Submissions	83
Appendix 2	Witnesses	85
Appendix 3	Site visits	87
Appendix 4	Tabled documents	88
Appendix 5	Size and composition of university governing bodies in NSW	89
Appendix 6	Remuneration provisions for Victorian universities	90
Appendix 7	Minutes	91
Appendix 8	Dissenting statement	106

# Chair's foreword

Universities are a vital part of Australia's social and economic infrastructure. As noted in the December 2008 report of the Bradley Review of Australian Higher Education, the reach, quality and performance of the higher education sector will be a key determinant of Australia's economic and social progress. Australian universities have combined operating revenue of over \$17 billion. In financial terms, even the smallest of universities now amount to quite substantial corporations.

In his recent review of the performance of NSW universities, the NSW Auditor-General noted that 'at the core of good governance is "doing the right thing". In other words, acting with honesty, impartiality, integrity, trustworthiness, respect for the law and due process. He believes that a commitment to ethical values is fundamental and that well-governed organisations are more successful than those that are not.

The Committee concurs with these sentiments and believes that NSW universities need to focus on their governance arrangements if they are to not only survive, but to flourish.

The evidence to this Inquiry clearly demonstrated that universities need to tailor their governance arrangements to meet their specific needs. However, this flexibility should not be unconstrained: they must act in accordance with the fundamental principles of good governance, including transparency and accountability.

Inquiry participants told us that they need greater control over the size and composition of their governing bodies. The Committee has made recommendations to this end. While we support the call for greater flexibility, we are committed to ensuring the continued representation of a wide variety of stakeholders particularly from among the university staff, students and alumni. The Committee has also recommended that universities have access to an effective mechanism to deal with long running disputes between a Chancellor and a governing body. An additional means for universities to affect the composition of their governing bodies is through ensuring that governing body members are of the highest calibre. This can be done through a greater emphasis on performance development, as well as by remunerating governing body members.

Other recommendations are intended to foster transparency and accountability in university governance arrangements, by strengthening performance evaluation practices.

On behalf of the Committee I would like to thank each Inquiry participant for their thoughtful contributions to this Inquiry. I am also grateful to my Committee colleagues for their work on this Inquiry. On their behalf, I acknowledge the work of the Committee Secretariat: Beverly Duffy, Ian Thackeray, Madeleine Foley, Cathryn Cummins and Kate Mihaljek.

I commend this report to the Government.

Holeyn Parkes

Hon Robyn Parker MLC

# Summary of key issues

In October 2008 the General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 self referred an inquiry into the current state of governance of NSW universities. The Committee received 36 submissions and held four hearings. This summary provides a broad outline of the key issues raised during the Inquiry and discussed in this report.

#### Universities in transition

The governance of Australian universities has changed dramatically over recent decades, as universities adapt to a markedly different funding environment. Governance practices associated with the corporate sector have been widely adopted by universities in response to the need to generate approximately half of their total income through commercial activities.

Some participants in this Inquiry are concerned that the extension of corporate governance practices to the higher education sector threatens the fundamental mission of universities to promote scholarship, research, free inquiry and academic excellence. Other participants accept the need for universities to be more commercially focused and believe that this can be pursued without compromising academic standards.

In his recent review of the governance of NSW universities, the NSW Auditor-General noted that 'at the core of good governance is "doing the right thing". In other words, acting with honesty, impartiality, integrity, trustworthiness, respect for the law and due process. He believes that a commitment to ethical values is fundamental and that well-governed organisations are more successful than those that are not.

The Committee concurs with these sentiments and believes that NSW universities need to focus on their governance arrangements if they are to not only survive, but to flourish.

The evidence to this Inquiry clearly demonstrated that universities need to tailor their governance arrangements to meet their specific needs. However, this flexibility should not be unconstrained: they must act in accordance with the fundamental principles of good governance, including transparency and accountability.

#### Size and composition of governing bodies

The ability to modify the size and composition of their governing bodies was seen as a crucial issue for some inquiry participants, particularly the Council of the University of New South Wales.

The University of New South Wales Council operates near or at the maximum governing body size of 22 members largely because its legislation mandates a relatively large number of alumni and academic staff representatives. This contrasts with most other universities across Australia, where alumni membership has been abolished or reduced.

While the Committee does not support the abolition of designated alumni positions it believes that consideration should be given to permitting the University of New South Wales to bring its legislation

into line with that of other NSW universities with regard to alumni representation, following consultation by the University with its alumni. This would reflect contemporary practice regarding the number of alumni positions on governing bodies while maintaining mandated alumni representation.

Some inquiry participants questioned whether open elections are the best means to select staff, student and alumni representatives. It was claimed that low voter turnout undermines the representative claims of elected members, particularly alumni representatives. The Committee notes that half of all NSW universities are using the power under their Acts to appoint rather than elect their alumni (or Convocation) members. The Committee believes that all NSW universities should have the flexibility to decide whether to appoint rather than elect their alumni members, and recommends that the university Acts be amended accordingly.

#### Dismissal of a Chancellor

With the exception of the University of Sydney, NSW universities do not currently have a clear and distinct provision to dismiss a Chancellor.

The Committee believes that a timely, fair and transparent mechanism to remove a Chancellor who has lost the confidence of their governing body should be available to all NSW universities. Such a mechanism may reduce the likelihood of protracted and damaging disputes between a Chancellor and a governing body. These arguments equally apply to the Deputy-Chancellor, which is also an elected position.

The procedures established by the University of Sydney provide an appropriate mechanism for the dismissal of the Chancellor and Deputy-Chancellor. We therefore recommend that a provision for the dismissal of a Chancellor and Deputy Chancellor, as set out in the University of Sydney By-Law 1999, be inserted into the university Acts.

#### Induction and professional development

Evidence to the Committee indicated that induction and professional development programs vary in quality, duration and appropriateness across universities. The Committee heard that professional development should be tailored to the specific requirements of governing body members, both internal and external, and should be offered over the course of a member's term. It should also be designed to ensure access to institutional data.

While respecting the need for universities to determine the nature and content of their own professional development programs, the Committee supports a greater emphasis on training and development across the sector. The Committee notes that the Commonwealth Government has announced the development of a voluntary code of best governance practice to replace the National Governance Protocols. The Joint Committee on Higher Education will facilitate consultation regarding the code. The Committee believes that the NSW Minister for Education and Training should ensure that the professional development of members of university governing bodies is accorded a high priority during this consultation.

Notwithstanding the development of a code of best governance practice, the Committee considers the Minister should conduct a review of professional development practices in NSW universities, with a view to encouraging best practice approaches.

#### Performance evaluation

Performance evaluation is crucial to a governing body's effectiveness. Based on the evidence to the Committee, it appears that performance evaluation practices vary significantly across universities, in terms of the regularity of performance reviews, and also, whether a governing body's performance is reviewed by the governing body itself or by an external consultant.

As with professional development, the Committee supports a greater focus on performance evaluation across the sector. The Committee believes that the NSW Minister for Education and Training should ensure that performance evaluation of university governing bodies is accorded a high priority in the forthcoming consultation regarding the development of a voluntary code of best governance practice.

As with professional development, the Committee also believes that the NSW Minister for Education and Training should review the performance evaluation practices of university governing bodies across the State, taking into consideration the issues raised in this Inquiry. As part of the review, the Minister should examine whether individual members of a governing body, including the Chancellor, should be subject to performance evaluation.

#### Clarity of governance roles

The members of university governing bodies have a good understanding of their roles and duties, as is required for effective governance. The Committee considers that the university Acts provide a clear framework regarding the roles of key governance actors. In particular, the university Acts are clear that the roles of the Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor are distinct and not overlapping. The Committee notes that individual universities having the flexibility to adjust their own by-laws, resolutions or rules if they feel the need for further clarification, as some universities have done in recent years.

# Summary of recommendations

#### **Recommendation 1**

That the Minister for Education and Training investigate the most appropriate method to ensure the full disclosure of the terms and conditions of employment contracts for university staff.

#### **Recommendation 2**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the provisions in the University of New South Wales Act 1989 regarding the number of mandated alumni positions, in line with other universities. This should occur following consultation by the University with its alumni.

### **Recommendation 3**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to provide all university governing bodies with the flexibility to either appoint or elect their alumni (or Convocation) members.

### **Recommendation 4**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to increase the minimum term for all members of university governing bodies from one to two years, with half the number being retired at each election.

#### **Recommendation 5**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to allow university governing bodies to remunerate their members, giving consideration to:

- eligibility for remuneration
- the appropriate level of remuneration.

#### **Recommendation 6**

That the Minister for Education and Training recommend to university governing bodies that they investigate separating risk management considerations from the work of an audit committee.

#### **Recommendation** 7

That the Minister for Education and Training investigate whether the inappropriate application of material interest declaration provisions is being used to exclude individuals from governing body debates on the grounds of the nature of their appointments to that governing body.

#### **Recommendation 8**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to allow for the dismissal of a Chancellor or Deputy Chancellor, similar to the provisions contained in the University of Sydney By-Law 1999.

#### **Recommendation 9**

That the Minister for Education and Training ensure that in the forthcoming consultation regarding the development of a voluntary code of best governance practice, the professional development of governing bodies is accorded high priority.

#### 58

65

### 49

# 52

### 45

15

44

45

54

#### **Recommendation 10**

That the Minister for Education and Training conduct a review of university induction and professional development programs in NSW universities, with a view to encouraging best practice approaches to professional development.

This review should be mindful of the issues raised in this Inquiry regarding professional development, including that such programs should be:

- tailored to meet the diverse needs of governing body members
- focused on developing the cultural capability of governing body members as well as their technical skills
- provided throughout governing body members' terms of office
- designed to ensure access to institutional data.

That the findings of the review be published no later than December 2009.

#### **Recommendation 11**

That the Minister for Education and Training ensure that in the forthcoming consultation regarding the development of a voluntary code of best governance practice, the performance evaluation practices of governing bodies is accorded a high priority.

#### **Recommendation 12**

That the Minister for Education and Training conduct a review of the performance evaluation practices of university governing bodies. This review should be mindful of the issues raised in this Inquiry regarding performance evaluation, including that such programs should be:

- conducted at regular intervals
- involve both self-reviews and external reviews
- conducted openly and transparently, and provide for public reporting of outcomes.

Further, that the Minister investigate whether individual members of a governing body, including the Chancellor, should be subject to regular performance evaluation.

That the findings of the review be published no later than December 2009.

70

70

# Chapter 1 Introduction

This Chapter provides an overview of the Inquiry process and the structure of the report.

#### Terms of reference

- **1.1** The Inquiry terms of reference were adopted on 13 October 2008 under the Committee's power to make a self-reference, and are reproduced on page iv.
- **1.2** The terms of reference required the Committee to examine issues such as any apparent lack of clarity in the roles and delineation of duties of governing bodies and Chancellors, the appropriateness of changes in the duties and responsibilities of governing body members and the representative mix of governing bodies.

### Conduct of the Inquiry

#### Submissions

- **1.3** The Committee called for submissions through advertisements in the *Sydney Morning Herald* and *The Daily Telegraph* on 29 October 2008, and by writing to key stakeholders and interested parties.
- 1.4 The Committee received a total of 36 submissions, including one supplementary submission. Submissions were received from a range of stakeholders, such as the NSW Vice-Chancellor's Committee, the National Institute of Governance and the National Tertiary Education Industry Union (NSW Branch). Submissions were also received from six universities.
- **1.5** A full list of submissions is available at Appendix 1.

#### Hearings

- **1.6** The Committee held a total of three public hearings during this Inquiry. The first hearing was at Parliament House on 26 February 2009, the second hearing was at the University of New England, Armidale on 17 March 2009, and the public third hearing was held at the University of Sydney on 23 March 2009. The Committee would like to thank the University of New England and the University of Sydney for facilitating the public hearings at their campuses.
- **1.7** During these hearings, the Committee received evidence from a number of organisations and individuals, including several members of university governing bodies.
- **1.8** At its fourth hearing, the Committee took *in-camera* evidence from Mr John Cassidy, the former Chancellor of the University of New England on 3 April 2009. The transcript of this hearing was subsequently published by resolution of the Committee at the request of the witness.

- **1.9** A list of witnesses is set out in Appendix 2 and published transcripts are available on the Committee's website. The list of documents tabled at the public hearings is provided at Appendix 4.
- **1.10** The Committee would like to extend its appreciation to the individuals, universities, representative bodies and agencies that contributed to this report by either making a submission or by appearing at a hearing.

#### Terminology

- **1.11** Different terms are used to describe certain features of university governance in the university Acts. For example, a governing authority may be referred to as a Council, a Senate or a Board of Trustees.<sup>2</sup> Throughout this report, the term 'governing body' will be used to encompass these three variations.
- **1.12** Additionally, the university Acts refer variously to a Vice-Chancellor, a Chief Executive Officer or a Principal Officer.<sup>3</sup> Throughout this report, 'Vice-Chancellor' will be used to encompass this position title.
- **1.13** Finally, some governing body members are referred to as Councillors, Trustees or Fellows. This report will refer to 'members of governing bodies'.<sup>4</sup>

#### Report structure

- **1.14** The next chapter, Chapter 2, provides an overview of key changes that have occurred in the higher education sector in response to the need for universities to supplement government funding with commercial activities. The chapter also discusses a number of reviews of the higher education sector that have taken place over the last fifteen years.
- **1.15** Chapter 3 outlines the regulatory framework for the governance of NSW universities, including the provisions in the university Acts relating to the governing body, Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor.
- **1.16** Chapter 4 addresses an issue of considerable debate during the Inquiry: the size and composition of governing bodies. It discusses whether smaller governing bodies would operate more efficiently and effectively. The Chapter also examines the composition of governing bodies and in particular, the representation of staff, students and alumni, and the practice of making Ministerial appointments to governing bodies.

<sup>4</sup> University of Sydney Act 1989 s 3

For example the University of New South Wales Act 1989 refers to the Council, the University of Sydney Act 1989 refers to the Senate and the University of Western Sydney Act 1997 refers to the Board of Trustees

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example the *University of Sydney Act 1989* refers to the Vice-Chancellor, the *University of Technology Act 1989* refers to the Chief Executive Officer and the *University of Newcastle Act 1989* refers to the Principal Officer.

- **1.17** In Chapter 5, several issues relating to the structure of governing bodies are considered: remuneration of members of governing bodies, the voting rights of Vice-Chancellors, membership of certain governing body committees, and the declaration of material interests by members of governing bodies. Lastly, it discusses the power to dismiss a Chancellor who has lost the confidence of the governing body.
- **1.18** Chapter 6 reviews the professional development provided to members of a university governing body, together with evaluation of a governing body's performance. The recruitment of a Chancellor is also considered briefly.
- **1.19** The final chapter, Chapter 7, addresses the clarity of governance roles, and the need to develop a healthy governance culture in which governing body members can work collaboratively to achieve excellence in university governance arrangements.

# Chapter 2 Universities in transition

This Chapter outlines key changes that have occurred in the higher education sector over the past two decades, including changes initiated in response to the need for universities to supplement government funding with commercial activities. The Chapter also includes a brief discussion of several major reviews of the higher education sector over the past 15 years.

#### Changes to the higher education sector

- 2.1 The higher education sector in Australia grew rapidly in the post-Second World War period to meet expanding demands for higher education. The number of Australian universities grew from six institutions following the Second World War to 39 institutions in 2009<sup>5</sup> with a combined operating revenue of \$17.3 billion.<sup>6</sup>
- **2.2** One of the most significant changes to the higher education sector in recent decades has been the reduction in the level of government funding. In 2007, the Commonwealth Government contributed approximately 55 percent of all university operating revenue.<sup>7</sup> Commonwealth Government grants comprised an average 41.2 per cent of operating revenue for all NSW universities in 2008.<sup>8</sup> The Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR) expects Commonwealth Government grants to be not much more than 50 per cent of operating revenue. All NSW universities achieve this expectation.<sup>9</sup>
- **2.3** Commonwealth Government funding is supplemented by a range of commercial activities undertaken by universities, including the imposition of fees for domestic and international students, the sale of consultancy services, the commercialisation of research and the management of intellectual property.<sup>10</sup> Universities have become a vital export earner with higher education being Australia's third largest export industry.<sup>11</sup>

- <sup>7</sup> Commonwealth Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Finance 2007-Financial Reports of Higher Education Providers*, September 2008, p 3
- <sup>8</sup> Audit Office of NSW, Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 61
- <sup>9</sup> Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 39
- <sup>10</sup> Commonwealth Department of Education, Science and Training, *Meeting the challenges: the governance and management of universities,* August 2002, pp 2-3
- <sup>11</sup> Universities Australia, Driving Economic Recovery For Australia Through Knowledge Pre-budget submission 2009-10, January 2009, p 6 < http://www.universitiesaustralia.edu.au/documents/publications/policy/ submissions/UA-Budget-Submission-Jan-2009.pdf> (accessed 5 May 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The National Institute of Governance, National Coordinator of the University Governance Professional Development Program, *Submission to the MCEETYA Review of Commonwealth National Governance Protocols 2007*, p 3

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Commonwealth Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, *Finance 2007-Financial Reports of Higher Education Providers* September 2008, p 3
 <a href="http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/FD27AECC-5790-42ED-851D-0A1782DD8905/24030/Finance2007forpublication.pdf">http://www.dest.gov.au/NR/rdonlyres/FD27AECC-5790-42ED-851D-0A1782DD8905/24030/Finance2007forpublication.pdf</a>
 (accessed 5 May 2009)

- **2.4** As a consequence 'even small universities in terms of their responsibilities are quite substantial corporations'<sup>12</sup> and all 'universities in Australia have become much more corporate in their governance, organizational structure and character'.<sup>13</sup>
- **2.5** As one witness to the Inquiry explained:

Australia has moved from the halcyon days of 25 or 30 years ago when money was not an issue at universities, to mass higher education where student numbers have just exploded. It is not possible any more, I think, in universities to say, 'Let's provide unlimited numbers of tutorials or lecturers' and so on. The Government has to recognise major shifts in higher education in the world, not just in Australia, to mass higher education.<sup>14</sup>

#### Moving towards a more commercial focus

- 2.6 In response to the need for universities to generate a greater proportion of their income from commercial activities, a tension has developed between those who believe that universities should be not-for-profit organisations devoted to advancing 'scholarship' and those who recognise the need for universities to be commercially focused in order to continue to provide their important public functions.
- 2.7 Several participants in the Inquiry suggested that the shift to a more commercial focus threatened the ability of universities to pursue their traditional objectives of excellence in teaching and research. The National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch (NTEU-NSW Branch) told the Committee that, 'in recent times university decision making has been dominated by a corporate managerialist culture which has undermined the academic integrity of teaching, learning and research, and the practice of good pedagogy'.<sup>15</sup>
- **2.8** Dr Tim Battin also drew a link between a growing corporate emphasis and his perception of a corresponding decline in the quality of education provided by universities:

The underfunding of universities intersects with the corporate and managerialist mindset and thereby gives rise to particular implications. One of these is the obvious problem of the increasingly questionable quality of higher education.<sup>16</sup>

**2.9** The University of Sydney Students' Representative Council argued that universities 'are very much still publicly owned institutions' with a primary mission 'to provide education'<sup>17</sup> and that the commercial imperative was driven by a failure of funding. It argued that problems (such as those recently at the University of New England) could be sheeted home to 'the lack of real

- <sup>15</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union -NSW Branch, p 5
- <sup>16</sup> Submission 22, Dr Tim Battin, p 4
- <sup>17</sup> Mr Noah White, President, Student Representative Council, University of Sydney, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Mr John Phillips, Chancellor, University of Western Sydney, Evidence, 26 February 2009 p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Submission 16, University of NSW Alumni Association, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Dr Rudi Lidl, Audit Director, Australian Universities Quality Association, Evidence, 26 February 2009, pp 38-39

indexation of public funding and government encouragement for universities to adopt a corporate commercial model of operations'.<sup>18</sup>

- 2.10 Some participants, while accepting that the purpose of universities was unlike other corporations, argued that corporate values were nonetheless relevant to the sector, within certain limits, if universities were to continue to function as an effective part of the nation's social and economic infrastructure.
- **2.11** Mr John Phillips, Chancellor of the University of Western Sydney, explained that, 'universities are in fact a business but they are a very different type of business'<sup>19</sup> where 'the main purpose of the university... is education, teaching, learning and research'.<sup>20</sup> 'You have no option these days but to run universities as a kind of business' but, given its main purpose is education 'you have to think in a businesslike manner, but you have to think very differently'.<sup>21</sup>
- **2.12** During evidence, Mr John Cassidy, the former Chancellor of the University of New England, was asked whether running a university was the same as running a large corporation, to which he answered: 'No, absolutely not. You must take into account the very business that you are trying to support.' According to Mr Cassidy, while this business includes 'producing people with degrees or diplomas', as well as promoting community and sporting activities, research and scholarship,<sup>22</sup> commercial activities are also important if a university is to be financially strong.<sup>23</sup>
- **2.13** While critical of reduced funding for universities, Mr Noah White, President of the University of Sydney Student Representative Council, acknowledged 'that there is a role for governing bodies to be somewhat corporatised...' and that the move to a corporate model in some ways 'is not reversible'.<sup>24</sup>
- **2.14** Mr Warwick Watkins, the Deputy Chancellor of the University of Technology, Sydney, acknowledged this blended model. He explained to the Committee that universities are 'all big businesses' and 'complex organisations' but a university 'must focus on its pursuit of excellence under its charter in research, teaching and learning'.<sup>25</sup>
- 2.15 In her submission to the inquiry, Ms Catherine Rytmeister, lecturer in Higher Education Development and a PhD student, stated that, while a more corporate approach to management was necessary to ensure that modern universities remain viable and productive, it should be remembered that 'the institution's financial viability and security was of vital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Submission 17, Student Representative Council, University of Sydney, p 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence 26 February 2009, p 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Mr Cassidy, Evidence, 3 April 2009, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Mr Cassidy, Evidence, 3 April 2009, p 8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Mr White, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor, University of Technology, Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 27, p 34

importance, but only insofar as this enables the institution to fulfil its mission, not as an end in itself.  $^{c26}$ 

**2.16** A number of contributors argued that the introduction of corporate practices to university governance has the potential to threaten academic freedom. For instance, Ms Rytmeister highlighted that:

... those who see the university's core business as intrinsically linked to the manner of its management and governance, tend to view the adoption of "corporate" practices as a threat to internal diversity, collegiality and academic autonomy.<sup>27</sup>

- 2.17 Dr Rudi Lidl, Audit Director, Australian Universities Quality Association (AUQA), conceded that while the increasing casualisation and its effect on universities was one of the major issues that arose in recent university audits conducted by AUQA, no evidence was found that academic freedom was at risk. He went on to observe that 'I would not like to make the linkage that contract employment or casualisation of the workforce impinges on the freedom of academics'.<sup>28</sup>
- **2.18** Mr Phillips acknowledged the challenge of combining efficient fiscal management with academic integrity, before concluding that:

There is a danger that the pressure of budgets will constrain the academic contribution of universities to Australian society ... The advancement of knowledge and the encouragement of scholarship are still, and always must be, core responsibilities.<sup>29</sup>

**2.19** Several participants commented on the need to ensure governing bodies include people with highly developed financial skills, if universities are to remain viable. As Professor Hilmer commented:

The fundamental job of a governing body is to make sure that the entity continues to operate successfully in terms of its objectives. You cannot do that if you are insolvent.<sup>30</sup>

#### Recent higher education reviews

**2.20** The following section outlines a number of reviews of the higher education system, which have taken place over the last fifteen years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Submission 20, Ms Catherine Rytmeister, p 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Submission 20, p 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Dr Lidl, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 41

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Answers to questions on notice taken during evidence 26 February 2009, Mr John Phillips, Chancellor, University of Western Sydney, pp 7-8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 22

#### Higher Education Management Review 1995

- **2.21** The 'Higher Education Management Review', also known as the Hoare Review, was commissioned by the Commonwealth Government in early 1995. The aim of the Review was to identify ways for universities to 'develop excellence in management and accountability for the resources available to the sector'.<sup>31</sup>
- **2.22** The Review, which was released in December 1995, found that governance arrangements varied greatly between universities, 'with only a limited number of governing bodies operating effectively'.<sup>32</sup> The Review identified a number of deficiencies in relation to governance arrangements including:
  - a lack of focus and emphasis on strategic issues at the governing body level
  - inadequately articulated roles and responsibilities of members
  - imbalance between external and internal appointments
  - the size of some governing bodies
  - a lack of appropriate skills and knowledge among members of the higher education sector.<sup>33</sup>

#### Higher Education at the Crossroads 2002

- **2.23** In April 2002, the Commonwealth Government initiated a major review of the higher education system. The first stage of the review included the publication of a discussion paper, *Higher Education at the Crossroads*, which highlighted six key issues facing Australian universities. One of these issues was strengthening the governance and management of universities.
- **2.24** The Review identified good governance practices as being particularly important, given the increasing prevalence of universities sourcing funding from fees, charges, investments and the commercialisation of intellectual property.<sup>34</sup> It posed the question:

How can an appropriate governance balance be struck between the requirement for accountability and probity and the necessity for appropriate risk management of commercial ventures?  $^{35}$ 

2.25 The second stage of the Review produced an issues paper on governance, entitled *Meeting the Challenge: the governance and management of universities.* It stressed that good governance practices

- <sup>32</sup> Hoare Review, Governance main findings <http://www.dest.gov.au/archive/highered/otherpub/hoare/hoare2.htm#governance>(accessed 5 January 2009)
- <sup>33</sup> Hoare Review, Governance main findings
- <sup>34</sup> Meeting the challenges: the governance and management of universities, August 2002, p ix
- <sup>35</sup> Meeting the challenges: the governance and management of universities, August 2002, p 17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Hoare Review, Summary of report and recommendations <http://www.dest.gov.au/archive/highered/otherpub/hoare/hoare1.htm#summary> (accessed 18 December 2008)

are critical to the effectiveness and success of Australian universities, and are essential to maximise their ability to contribute to Australia's economic and social development. The issues paper identified some of the challenges surrounding the governance of universities as:

- role and size of governing bodies
- duties, skill set and remuneration of members of governing bodies
- composition of and appointment methods to governing bodies.<sup>36</sup>
- 2.26 The intent of both *Higher Education at the Crossroads* and *Meeting the Challenge: the governance and management of universities* was to explore issues in relation to higher education and good governance practices. Whilst neither report made specific recommendations concerning future directions, the findings of the Reviews were considered in the 2008 Review of Australian Higher Education, discussed at the end of this chapter.

#### Victorian Review of University Governance 2002

- **2.27** The Victorian Department of Education and Training conducted a review of university governance practices in Victoria in 2002. The *Review of University Governance* examined how Victorian universities could best respond to and develop in a changing operating environment.
- **2.28** The Review proposed the development of:

... a system of corporate governance and accountability to Government that sheets home responsibility to universities to advance their public purposes, with transparent governance of and effective accountability for all their activities, including their commercial ventures.<sup>37</sup>

- **2.29** The Review recommended that universities adopt a statement of their primary responsibilities, which encompassed issues such as the appointment and monitoring of the Vice-Chancellor, identifying the universities' strategic direction and the establishment of systems of control and accountability.<sup>38</sup> The Review also recommended that the Victorian Office of Higher Education establish a program to develop the leadership and governance skills of members of governing bodies.<sup>39</sup>
- **2.30** The intent of the proposed changes was 'to enhance public confidence that effective decisions are being made' by university decision makers.<sup>40</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Meeting the challenges: the governance and management of universities, August 2002, pp 17-25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Victorian Department of Education and Training, Review of University Governance, May 2002, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Review of University Governance, May 2002, p 65

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Review of University Governance, May 2002, p 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Review of University Governance, May 2002, p 3

#### Joint Committee on Higher Education Review of National Governance Protocols

- **2.31** In June 2004 the Commonwealth Government introduced the National Governance Protocols. The eleven Protocols were designed to ensure a consistent national approach towards key aspects of governance. Universities were required to comply with the Protocols as a condition of receiving Commonwealth funding.
- **2.32** The Protocols were a significant governance reform. They aimed at addressing a number of governance concerns including:
  - whether governing bodies had the skills to oversee complex multi million dollar enterprises
  - whether members see themselves as representing interest groups, rather than serving the interests of the university as a whole
  - the size and composition of councils
  - whether governing bodies were monitoring universities' commercial operations.
- **2.33** The National Governance Protocols led to substantive amendment of the university Acts across the States and provoked a greater interest in the theory and practice of good governance in the higher education sector.<sup>41</sup>
- **2.34** In late 2005, at the meeting of the Ministerial Council on Education, Employment, Training and Youth Affairs (MCEETYA), the Commonwealth, State and Territory Ministers agreed to review the effectiveness of the Protocols.
- **2.35** The Ministerial Council asked its advisory body, the Joint Committee on Higher Education (JCHE), to conduct the review and report back by the end of 2007.<sup>42</sup>
- **2.36** In early 2008, prior to the JCHE finalising its Review of the National Governance Protocols, the new Commonwealth Government decided to separate compliance with the Protocols from eligibility for receipt of public funding.<sup>43</sup> According to the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, the rationale for this step included:
  - that the measures for setting out governance arrangements had already been enacted through state and territory legislation and universities had taken steps to ensure compliance

- <sup>42</sup> The JCHE is comprised of representatives from the Commonwealth and the education departments of each State and Territory, and is chaired by an elected representative of a State Education Department.
- <sup>43</sup> The Higher Education Support Amendment (Removal of the Higher Education Workplace Relations Requirements and National Governance Protocols Requirements and Other Matters) Bill 2008 amended the *Higher Education Support Act 2003* by repealing section 33-17 of the Act. This section had required higher education providers to meet the higher education workplaces requirements (known as HEWERS) and the national governance protocols as a condition of receiving Commonwealth Grant Scheme funding. The Bill was passed on 4 September 2008 (CPD (Senate), 4/9/2008, p 4529)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Swansson J, Mow K and Bartos S, 'Good university governance in Australia', *Referred Proceedings of* 2005 Forum of the Australasian Association of Institutional Research, pp 100-101

- removal of the NGPs would reduce red tape and the costs associated with compliance
- a non legislative voluntary code would provide universities with flexibility in their governance arrangements. <sup>44</sup>
- **2.37** The Commonwealth Minister for Education indicated that, although adherence to the National Governance Protocols would no longer be a condition of funding, a 'voluntary code or set of best practice university governance principles' would be developed in consultation with Universities Australia and state and territory governments to ensure that good governance practices are maintained.<sup>45</sup>

#### Victorian Higher Education Legislation Review 2008

**2.38** In February 2008, the Victorian Government commenced a review of its various University Acts. The Statement of Intent for the Review noted that:

... good governance in universities increasingly involves balancing commercial autonomy with a corresponding need for accountability and service to the broader community. Victorian universities hold unique public responsibilities and attributes that contrast with the requirements of private sector corporations.<sup>46</sup>

- **2.39** The Review recommended changes to the legislation governing Victorian universities. These recommendations related to:
  - making the remuneration of governing body members a condition of appointment
  - more flexible requirements with regards to the size of governing bodies
  - clearer delineation of fiduciary responsibilities for governing bodies members and basic guidelines for resolving conflicts of interest.<sup>47</sup>
- **2.40** Template legislation is to be introduced to the Victorian Parliament and a series of Bills modelled on the template will be then introduced and the existing university Acts repealed.<sup>48</sup>

- <sup>47</sup> Victorian Department of Education and Training, *Statement of Intent Higher Education Legislation Review*, October 2008, p 8
- <sup>48</sup> Victorian Department of Education and Training, Statement of Intent Higher Education Legislation Review, October 2008, p 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Submission 9, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> CPD (HR), 14/5/2008, p 2762

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Victorian Department of Education and Training, *Statement of Intent - Higher Education Legislation Review*, October 2008, p 7 <http://www.skills.vic.gov.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0007/24496/Statement-of-Intent.pdf> (accessed 5 May 2009)

#### **Review of Australian Higher Education 2008**

- 2.41 In March 2008, the Commonwealth Government announced a major Review of Australian Higher Education, chaired by Emeritus Professor Denise Bradley. The 'Bradley Review' was asked to consider the future direction of the higher education sector, and the options for reform.
- **2.42** The final report of the Bradley Review was released in December 2008, making 46 recommendations to reshape the existing higher education system. It recommended major reforms to the financing of the higher education sector, as well as regulatory reforms which would see all higher education providers, including vocational institutions, regulated by a single independent national tertiary regulatory agency.<sup>49</sup>
- **2.43** Under this proposed national framework, each university would be able to set its own strategic direction, with funding provided to the university if it was able to attract:

 $\dots$  publicly-funded undergraduate and postgraduate students, full-fee paying domestic and international students, and publicly-funded research and commercial opportunities, based on the quality of its teaching and research effort.<sup>50</sup>

2.44 In May 2009, the Federal Government announced a new funding package, totaling \$5.3 billion over six years, for the higher education sector.<sup>51</sup> The funding package is linked to a range of reforms, including the replacement of the Australian Universities Quality Agency with a new regulatory agency, the Tertiary Education Quality Standards Agency, which will oversee standards and performance in the sector.<sup>52</sup>

#### NSW Auditor-General's Report to Parliament 2009

- **2.45** The NSW Auditor-General's Report to Parliament Volume Two in May 2009 focused on the corporate governance of universities and large government agencies. The Auditor-General identified a number of issues of concern relating to universities, including:
  - a combined operating loss of \$66 million in 2008 compared to a surplus of \$388 million in 2007, largely as a result of the global financial crisis and volatility in financial markets
  - an increase in unfunded superannuation liabilities to \$3.1 billion
  - increased reliance on overseas students as a source of income, with overseas students now contributing nearly half of total student revenue
  - financial exposure due to excessive annual leave balances of academic staff

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Australian Government, Review of Australian Higher Education: Final Report, December 2008, p xiii

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Review of Australian Higher Education: Final Report, p 175

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Trounson A, 'Performance targets to drive funding', *The Australian*, 14 May 2009 < http://www.theaustralian.news.com.au/story/0,25197,25470917-12332,00.html> (accessed 14 May 2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> 'New education body', *The Australian Financial Review*, 13 May 2009, p B21

- significant maintenance backlogs of nearly \$1 billion.<sup>53</sup>
- 2.46 The Auditor-General's report highlights that it is critical for universities to put in place effective corporate governance arrangements, and in particular, the need for universities to have access to high-level financial skills. Such skills are needed all the more because of the current financial crisis and volatility in financial markets.
- 2.47 The importance of high-level financial skills is shown by the falls in the value of universities' investments from \$2.1 billion at the end of December 2007 to \$1.6 billion a year later.<sup>54</sup> The biggest impact was felt by the University of Sydney: investments fell by \$271 million, or 23 per cent, from \$1.15 billion to \$884 million. According to the Auditor-General, 'the University advised that it does not believe the fall in value will materially impact its operations, however it may result in the deferral of some capital works programs.<sup>55</sup>
- **2.48** The Auditor-General found that six of the ten NSW universities meet all four Australian benchmarks for university financial performance, as identified by DEEWR. The benchmarks are liquidity, diversity of revenue, employee benefits and on-costs, and operating result.<sup>56</sup>
- 2.49 In relation to diversity of revenue, two NSW universities rely on Commonwealth Government grants for more than 50 per cent of their operating revenue: the University of New England (51.5 per cent),<sup>57</sup> and Charles Sturt University (50.3 per cent).<sup>58</sup> Macquarie University is the least reliant on Commonwealth Government funds (26.4 per cent).<sup>59</sup> The State average for reliance on Commonwealth Government grants is 41.2 per cent.<sup>60</sup>
- **2.50** In 2009 and 2010 the Auditor-General will more closely examine the design and operation of universities' key corporate governance arrangements.<sup>61</sup>

#### Committee comment

**2.51** The governance of universities has changed dramatically over the past 20 years, largely as a consequence of reduced reliance on government funding.

- <sup>54</sup> Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 33
- <sup>55</sup> Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 69
- <sup>56</sup> Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 37
- <sup>57</sup> Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 77
- <sup>58</sup> *Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two,* May 2009, p 54. The Auditor-General noted that Charles Sturt University's increased reliance on Australian Government grants in 2008 was largely due to grants for the University's new Dental School.
- <sup>59</sup> Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 61
- <sup>60</sup> Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 61
- <sup>61</sup> Auditor General's Report to Parliament 2009 Volume Two, May 2009, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Auditor-General Mr Peter Achterstraat, 'Auditor General's Report to Parliament – Volume two 2009: Focusing on Universities,' *Media Release*, 20 May 2009

- **2.52** While some inquiry participants felt threatened by the extension of corporate governance practices to the higher education sector, others perceived these changes as an appropriate response to the contemporary environment and compatible with the fundamental objects of a university to promote excellence in scholarship, teaching and free inquiry. The Committee acknowledges the need for universities to pursue corporate goals, and believes that these can be pursued without threatening academic or research standards.
- **2.53** Indeed, given NSW universities' combined operating loss of \$66 million in 2008, and the current global financial crisis, it is imperative for NSW universities to apply best practice corporate governance principles to their operations. As noted by the Auditor-General, 'organisations that are governed well outperform those that are not.'<sup>62</sup>
- **2.54** However, these goals should be pursued within a framework of accountability and transparency. An example of this is disclosure of salary packages for senior staff. While offering significant salaries and generous performance bonuses to senior executive staff may provide an important competitive edge for some universities, given that approximately half of total university funding is provided by the Commonwealth Government, the disclosure of this information is a matter of public interest. The Committee notes the recent comments by the NSW Ombudsman criticising attempts by several universities to make the salaries of their Vice-Chancellors exempt from the *Freedom of Information Act* and thus unable to be disclosed. We share the Ombudsman's view that the terms and conditions of employment contracts of public sector staff should be open to public scrutiny, except in exceptional circumstances. <sup>63</sup>

#### **Recommendation 1**

That the Minister for Education and Training investigate the most appropriate method to ensure the full disclosure of the terms and conditions of employment contracts for university staff.

<sup>62</sup> 'Auditor General's Report to Parliament – Volume two 2009: Focusing on Universities,' *Media Release*, 20 May 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Matthew Moore, Vice Chancellors' salaries hidden from public view', Sydney Morning Herald, 23 October 2008, <a href="http://www.smh.com.au/articles/2008/10/22/12243511234.html?feed+fairfaxdigital">http://www.smh.com.au/articles/2008/10/22/12243511234.html?feed+fairfaxdigital></a> (accessed 19/5/09)

# Chapter 3 The regulatory framework for NSW universities

This Chapter outlines the regulatory framework for university governance in New South Wales.

#### What is governance?

- **3.1** According to the NSW Audit Office, 'corporate governance refers to the stewardship of an organisation in terms of the way it is directed and controlled'. It 'is, therefore, concerned with the respective powers, responsibilities and accountabilities' of the boards and stakeholders of a corporation.<sup>64</sup>
- **3.2** University governance has been defined as:

The institutional structures and processes that enable decision makers to exercise authority and control over the direction of the university, approve the mission and strategic direction of the university, monitor risk assessment and review and approve management decisions.<sup>65</sup>

**3.3** Mr John Phillips, Chancellor of the University of Western Sydney, described governance as 'that intermingling, that certain connection, between all the players of the universities' so that the university runs as effectively as possible.<sup>66</sup>

#### The regulatory framework

- **3.4** Universities in New South Wales (and across Australia) operate within a combined federal and state regulatory regime.
- **3.5** The Commonwealth Minister for Education is responsible for funding universities, through the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations.
- **3.6** The State Minister for Education and Training is responsible for the administration of the Acts under which universities are established (known as enabling Acts). The Acts provide universities with the 'freedom to govern themselves in the way they see fit, while also ensuring that appropriate and effective governance arrangements are in place.<sup>267</sup>
  - <sup>64</sup> Audit Office of NSW, Corporate Governance Volume One: In Principle, Performance Audit Report, In Brief, 1997,
    <a href="http://www.audit.nsw.gov.au/publications/reports/performance/1997/crpg1/inbrief.htm">http://www.audit.nsw.gov.au/publications/reports/performance/1997/crpg1/inbrief.htm</a> (accessed 5 May 2009)
  - <sup>65</sup> Victorian Department of Education and Training, Statement of Intent Higher Education Legislation Review, October 2008, p 2 <http://www.skills.vic.gov.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0007/24496/Statement-of-Intent.pdf> (accessed 5 May 2009)
  - <sup>66</sup> Mr John Phillips, Chancellor, University of Western Sydney, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 5
  - <sup>67</sup> NSWPD (Legislative Assembly), 26 October 2004, p 11988

#### New South Wales Legislation

- **3.7** Ten of Australia's 39 universities are established under New South Wales legislation.<sup>68</sup> These are:
  - Charles Sturt University
  - Macquarie University
  - Southern Cross University
  - University of New England
  - University of New South Wales
  - University of Newcastle
  - University of Sydney
  - University of Technology, Sydney
  - University of Western Sydney
  - University of Wollongong.
- **3.8** Universities are established as entities under separate but nearly identical State Acts. The Acts define the governance framework that applies to each university, but vary slightly to accommodate the specific needs of each university.
- **3.9** Under the legislation the 'object' of each university in New South Wales is defined as:

The promotion, within the limits of the University's resources, of scholarship, research, free inquiry, the interaction of research and teaching, and academic excellence.<sup>69</sup>

- **3.10** The university Acts include provisions relating to:
  - the appointment of a Chancellor, the Vice-Chancellor and other members of the university's governance structure;
  - the governing body and its constitution, representation and methods of appointment of members;
  - the governing body's functions; and
  - the roles and responsibilities of certain members of the governing body.<sup>70</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> The Australian Catholic University (ACU) receives public funding but operates as a company limited by guarantee under the Companies Code of Victoria

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> See for example *University of Sydney Act 1989* s 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Submission 9, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, p 1

#### University Acts

- **3.11** The university Acts provide universities with a significant degree of independence and flexibility, enabling them to decide on many aspects of their governance themselves. Universities' decisions on governance arrangements must be given effect, however, through the relevant subordinate legislation, to provide public scrutiny of such decisions and to ensure that 'the decisions being implemented are a true expression of the will of the governing body'.<sup>71</sup>
- **3.12** The By-Laws empower the governing body to make Rules in respect of most matters for which the By-Laws are made. Both By-Laws and Rules must be consistent with the base legislation.
- **3.13** For example, By-Laws may be made in respect of the following:
  - management, good government and discipline of the university
  - method of election of members of the governing who are to be elected
  - functions of the presiding member of the governing body or Academic Board
  - tenure of office, stipend and functions of the Vice-Chancellor.<sup>72</sup>
- **3.14** Rules cannot be made with respect to a number of matters, including:
  - aspects of the Constitution of the governing body
  - term of office of the Chancellor and certain elected members of the governing body
  - functions of the governing body relating to borrowing and investment
  - filling of vacancies on the governing body.<sup>73</sup>

#### Accountabilities

- **3.15** Universities are subject to external oversight by the Auditor-General and the NSW Ombudsman.<sup>74</sup>
- **3.16** The Acts also impose certain obligations relating specifically to commercial activities.<sup>75</sup>
- **3.17** Universities are expected to adhere to the National Governance Protocols, although as noted in Chapter 2, compliance with the Protocols is no longer a condition of funding.<sup>76</sup>

- <sup>75</sup> See for example *University of New England Act 1993* ss 21D and 21E
- <sup>76</sup> Submission 9, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> NSWPD (Legislative Assembly), 26 October 2004, p 11990

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> See for example *Charles Sturt University Act 1989* s 31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See for example *Charles Sturt University Act 1989* s 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Submission 25, Arc - University of New South Wales, p 10

### Key governance provisions of State legislation

#### Governing body

**3.18** Each of the university Acts stipulates that there be a governing authority (variously referred to as the Council, the Senate or the Board of Trustees, hereafter referred to as the governing body).

#### Constitution of the governing body

- **3.19** There are a number of similarities between the university Acts in regards to the constitution of governing body. The following features are shared by each of the Acts:
  - each governing body is to have three official members, namely the Chancellor, the Vice-Chancellor and the presiding member of Academic Board
  - there are to be no more than 22 people on each governing body
  - the majority of members of the governing body must be external to the university
  - all members must have expertise and experience relevant to the functions of governing body
  - at least two members of the governing body must have financial expertise
  - at least one member of the governing body must have commercial expertise
  - the governing body is to appoint one or more of the external members
  - at least one member of the governing body is to be a non-academic staff member of the university.<sup>77</sup>
- **3.20** There are however several differences between the university Acts. These differences relate mainly to the qualifications of members of a governing body, and the number of representatives from certain groups:
  - minimum size of the governing body there is no prescribed minimum number of governing body members across the Acts. Each Act separately identifies the number of governing body members for that university based on the numbers of the elected and appointed members prescribed. Minimum size, in effect, ranges from 15 to 22 members with most Acts establishing 16 members as the effective minimum. In practice, governing body sizes currently range from 18 members to the maximum of 22 members.
  - external members appointed by the Minister each university Act states that governing bodies are to have six external members appointed by the Minister, however some universities are more prescriptive in regards to the experience of these members. For instance, the University of New England and the University of Technology Sydney specify that the external members must have experience in education, technology, industry, business, human services or industrial relations.<sup>78</sup>

<sup>78</sup> University of New England Act 1993, s 9 and University of Technology, Sydney Act 1989 s 9(1)(b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> See for example University of New South Wales Act 1989 s 9

- academic staff the number of academic staff specified in the Acts ranges from one at the University of Western Sydney to four at University of New South Wales.<sup>79</sup>
- undergraduate and postgraduate students most universities indicate that there should be one undergraduate and one postgraduate student on the governing body, except for Macquarie, Charles Sturt and Southern Cross Universities which state that one student of the university should be a member of the governing body.<sup>80</sup>
- graduates of the university (alumni)
  - the number of graduate members ranges from one at the University of Western Sydney to five at the University of Sydney. The university Acts for the University of Technology, Sydney and the University of Newcastle specify that one or more members of the Convocation, rather than graduates, should be on the governing body.<sup>81</sup> (The Convocation generally comprises the members and former members of a governing body; the graduates of the university; and current academic staff. In some cases, it also comprises former academic staff. Not all university Acts have established a Convocation.)
  - all but two of the Acts provide that graduate or Convocation representatives may either be elected by the representative group or appointed by governing body. The two exceptions are the Universities of Sydney and New South Wales where there is provision only for the election of these representatives.<sup>82</sup>
  - of the universities that can either elect or appoint graduate or Convocation representatives, three universities (New England, Western Sydney and Wollongong) elect their graduate members while the remaining five (University of Technology, Sydney, Charles Sturt, Newcastle, Southern Cross and Macquarie) all appoint their graduate/Convocation members.<sup>83</sup>
- **3.21** A table outlining the size and composition of each university governing body is at Appendix 4.

#### Functions of governing body

- **3.22** The university Acts provide that the functions of the governing body are:
  - to act for and on behalf of the university in the exercise of the university's functions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> University of Western Sydney Act 1997 s 12 (1)(d)(i) and University of New South Wales Act 1989 s 9(1)(d)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> See for example University of New South Wales Act 1989 s 9(f) and (g) and Macquarie University Act 1989 s 9(f)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> University of Western Sydney Act 1997 s 9(1)(h); University of Sydney Act 1989 s 9(1)(h); University of Technology, Sydney Act 1989 s 9(1)(h) and University of Newcastle Act 1989 s 9(1)(h)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> See for example University of New South Wales Act s 9(1)(g)(iii) and University of Sydney Act 1989 s 9(1)(f)(iii)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> For further details, see the by-laws and webpages of each university

- have control and management of university affairs
- to act in all matters to promote the object and interests of the university.<sup>84</sup>
- **3.23** The Acts further specify that the control and management of university affairs encompasses:
  - monitoring the performance of the Vice-Chancellor
  - overseeing the university's performance and academic activities
  - approving the mission, strategic direction, annual budget and business plan of the university
  - overseeing risk management and assessment, and approving and monitoring systems of control and accountability
  - establishing policies and procedural principles, and ensuring accessible grievance procedures
  - regularly reviewing its own performance
  - making available for governing body members a program of induction and development relevant to their position as member.<sup>85</sup>
- **3.24** Other functions of the governing body include to:
  - provide courses and confer degrees
  - appoint and terminate academic and other staff
  - borrow and invest funds
  - establish and maintain other branches of the university
  - make loans and grants to students
  - impose fees, charges and fines.<sup>86</sup>

#### Duties of governing body members

- **3.25** Each of the university Acts contain requirements relating to the duties of governing body members. These duties consist of:
  - acting in the best interests of the university
  - exercising due care and diligence in carrying out their functions
  - not improperly using their position or information acquired because of their position
  - disclosing material interests in matters being considered by the governing body.<sup>87</sup>

- <sup>86</sup> See for example University of Wollongong Act 1989 s 16(1)
- <sup>87</sup> See for example University of Technology, Sydney Act 1989 Schedule 2A

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> See for example *Macquarie University Act 1989* s 16(1A)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> See for example University of Newcastle Act 1989 s 16(1B)
# Removal from office for breach of duty

- **3.26** All NSW universities have similar provisions for the removal of a member of governing body for a breach of duty. These provisions are:
  - the governing body may remove a member for breach of the duties set out in the relevant schedule of the university Act
  - the removal of a member must occur at a meeting for which notice, including notice of the motion for removal, was duly given
  - the motion for removal must be supported by at least a two-thirds majority of the total number of Council members
  - the motion for removal must not be put unless the member concerned has been given reasonable opportunity to reply to the motion, either in writing or in person
  - it is considered that a reasonable opportunity to reply has been given if due notice of the meeting has been given, even if the member concerned does not attend the meeting.<sup>88</sup>

# Vice-Chancellor

- **3.27** The key provisions in the university Acts relating to the Vice-Chancellor require that the Vice Chancellor is:
  - appointed by the governing body and holds office for such period, and on such conditions, as the governing body determines
  - the chief executive officer of the University
  - an *ex officio* member of the governing body.<sup>89</sup>
- **3.28** Additional or varied provisions to be found in some individual Acts include:
  - a person who is not a member of the governing body and who is appointed to act in the place of the Vice-Chancellor will be regarded as a governing body member for that period (Sydney University)<sup>90</sup>
  - the Vice-Chancellor is the *principal* executive officer of the University (Sydney, New South Wales, Macquarie, Charles Sturt, Wollongong and Newcastle Universities)<sup>91</sup>

University of Newcastle Act 1989 s 12(3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> See for example *Charles Sturt University Act 1989* s 24(G)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> See for example University of Western Sydney Act 1997 s 12(1) and s 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> University of Sydney Act 1989 s 12(4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> University of Sydney Act 1989 s 12(3); University of New South Wales Act 1989 s 12(3); Macquarie University Act 1989 s 12(3); Charles Sturt University Act 1989 s 12(3); University of Wollongong 1989 s 12 (3) and

• under the University of Western Sydney Act, the Vice-Chancellor is the academic and administrative head of the University; to exercise stewardship of the University on behalf of the governing body; a member of every committee established by the governing body or the Vice-Chancellor.<sup>92</sup>

#### Chancellor

- **3.29** The key provisions in the University Acts relating to the Chancellor provide that the Chancellor:
  - is to be elected by the governing body
  - holds office for a period not exceeding four years (excepting the University of New England, which provides for a period of five years)<sup>93</sup>
  - is to preside at all meetings of the governing body at which the Chancellor is present
  - may preside at any committee meeting at which the Chancellor is in attendance.<sup>94</sup>
- **3.30** Additional or varied provisions to be found in individual Acts include that the Chancellor:
  - is to advise and assist the Vice-Chancellor in the exercise of their functions (University of Western Sydney)<sup>95</sup>
  - is to exercise a pastoral role within the University (University of Western Sydney).<sup>96</sup>

#### **Committee comment**

- **3.31** Although reliant on the Commonwealth for approximately half of their funding, universities are established under State legislation. The university Acts ensure that all universities comply with certain governance provisions, such as the constitution and functions of a governing body, and the duties of governing body members, as well as provisions relating to the role and tenure of the Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor.
- **3.32** As several participants to this Inquiry noted, providing universities with greater flexibility in their governance arrangements is an important way to allow these institutions to meet diverse challenges and to respond to a changing environment. University governing bodies make significant decisions on a range of complex matters. While *some* universities are able to modify the size and composition of their governing body under their Acts, other universities suggested that they need greater control over the size and composition of their governing

- <sup>93</sup> University of New England Act 1993 s 10
- <sup>94</sup> See for example University of Technology, Sydney Act 1989 s 10
- <sup>95</sup> University of Western Sydney Act 1997 s 3(A)
- <sup>96</sup> University of Western Sydney Act 1997 s 3(B)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> University of Western Sydney Act 1997 s 15

bodies to ensure the are able perform their role effectively. This issue is discussed in detail in the next chapter.

# Chapter 4 Size and composition of governing bodies

The size and composition of governing bodies was an issue of considerable debate during the Inquiry. While some inquiry participants argued that governing bodies are too large and unwieldy, others said that governing bodies needed to be of a certain size to ensure that a broad range of views were represented. Inquiry participants supported university staff, students and alumni being represented on governing bodies, but some raised criticisms of aspects of their role.

# Size of governing bodies

4.1 The size of university governing bodies was raised a number of times during evidence. Some inquiry participants argued that governing bodies should be smaller, to ensure their efficient and effective operation. Other inquiry participants, however, said that the current size of governing bodies was satisfactory, given the need to include representatives from diverse university stakeholders.

# Current size of governing bodies

- **4.2** Protocol Five of the National Governance Protocols required that a governing body have a maximum size of 22 members, and that there be a majority of external independent members. Ms Catherine Rytmeister, Lecturer in Higher Education Development and PhD student, Macquarie University said that, the shift in favour of external members has taken place over the last two decades, as universities have moved to adopt corporate governance practices.<sup>97</sup>
- **4.3** The university Acts stipulate a maximum governing body size of 22 members, in accordance with the requirements of the National Governance Protocols. Each university Act specifies the size of the governing body through prescribing the minimum mix of representative and appointed members. This minimum varies between Acts, from 15 to 22 members, with most prescribing sixteen members as a minimum.
- 4.4 The legislation provides most of NSW universities with some flexibility to increase membership beyond the minimum levels, by allowing an increase in membership beyond the mandated number of members in two categories: members appointed by the governing body, and members of the alumni (or Convocation).
- **4.5** In practice almost all universities have membership larger than their statutory minimum. For example, the University of New South Wales has 22 members and University of Technology Sydney has 20 members, although they are only required to have 21 and 16 members respectively.<sup>98</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Submission 20, Ms Catherine Rytmeister, p 54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> University of New South Wales Act (NSW) 1989 s 9 and University of New England Act (NSW) 1993 s 9

#### Should governing bodies be smaller?

4.6 The Australian Institute of Company Directors stated in its submission that:

A large governing body can be detrimental in its effectiveness because discussions become lengthy and parliamentary in style. It can lead to factions developing amongst members, difficulty in obtaining agreement and less focus on strategic matters which are the province of a governing body. <sup>99</sup>

- **4.7** The Institute further suggested that '... a reduction in size could facilitate the effective function of university governing bodies'.<sup>100</sup>
- **4.8** According to Mr John Cassidy, former chancellor of the University of New England, the size of university governing bodies makes it inevitable that they tend to operate as a 'mini parliament'. He noted that a number of public companies and government entities have much smaller boards, which can number between 8 and 12 members. Mr Cassidy said:

A council or board or directors of 17, let alone 22, is unwieldy, expensive to maintain and stultifies, rather then generates debate and open discussion as inevitably individuals with similar interests vote as a block in favour of those interests, their position being predetermined.<sup>101</sup>

- **4.9** Mr Cassidy asserted that the size of governing bodies should be greatly reduced. In reference to the University of New England Council, he proposed that it be reconstituted to consist of three ex-officio members (Chancellor, Vice-Chancellor and Chair of the Academic Board), four ministerial appointments (which could include university staff, students or alumni), and two external members appointed by Council.<sup>102</sup>
- **4.10** Professor Frederick Hilmer, Vice-Chancellor of the University of New South Wales, criticised the size of governing bodies for being 'cumbersome':

We are much more complex than a corporation and we are much less centrally run. So we still have a large board but 22 is a pretty cumbersome number to have discussions. What we have tried to do in our submission is get a balance between a reasonable size that deals with the proper concerns that you raise but, at the same time, is able to have a better depth of discussion than you get in the very large boards where issues tend to pop up a different parts of the table and you do not follow things through. <sup>103</sup>

**4.11** In line with Professor Hilmer's view, the University of New South Wales Council recommended to the former Minister for Education and Training that the Council membership be reduced to between 11 and 14 members.<sup>104</sup> The University of New South Wales again raised the proposal with the current Minister for Education and Training, who '...

- <sup>101</sup> Submission 27, Mr John Cassidy, p 9
- <sup>102</sup> Submission 27, pp 10-11
- <sup>103</sup> Professor Frederick Hilmer, Vice-Chancellor, University of New South Wales, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 25
- <sup>104</sup> Submission 12, University of New South Wales, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Submission 18, Australian Institute of Company Directors, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Submission 18, p 2

has indicated that she recognises the need for universities to have flexibility in determining the size and composition of governing bodies to suit particular needs ...<sup>105</sup> The Minister advised that she was giving the proposed changes careful consideration, whilst awaiting the report of this Inquiry.

**4.12** Associate Professor Jeanne Madison, the University of New England, linked the optimum size of a governing body to the amount of work to be done by its committees. Associate Professor Madison said:

I think our present size is about right ... Most of the work of the Council is done, as my colleague ahead of me said, in committee. A council of nine or 11 people are going to be very busy people. Like most organisations, committees run organisations. Controversial issues tend to bubble up to the council level but generally it is the committees that get the work done ... <sup>106</sup>

**4.13** Mr John Phillips, Chancellor of the University of Western Sydney, argued that the size of a governing body was not as important as the skills of its members:

I think size is a matter of secondary importance. Certainly the larger the council, the more onerous it is for a chancellor to try to maintain the kind of harmony you want to maintain to get good performance. It is very important that you have on a council a range of skills that are necessary to determine the strategy and the policies for the university...<sup>107</sup>

- **4.14** The joint submission from the University Chancellors' Council and Universities Australia to the Review of the National Governance Protocols said that 'the view of the Chancellors and Vice Chancellors is that the size of governing boards is an issue of secondary importance. More important is the blend of skills, experience and motivation among members and the method of their appointment'.<sup>108</sup>
- **4.15** Other inquiry participants expressed similar views. The University of Technology, Sydney argued that 'the fundamental issues are the effectiveness and collective skills not size'.<sup>109</sup> Ms Rytmeister agreed: 'There is little or no relationship between governing body size and effectiveness, nor between governing body size and institutional performance'.<sup>110</sup>
- **4.16** In addition, Ms Rytmeister questioned the assumption that quick decision-making is good decision-making:

<sup>110</sup> Submission 20, p 61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Submission 12, University of New South Wales, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Associate Professor Jeanne Madison, Member, University of New England Council, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 34

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Submission 2, New South Wales Vice-Chancellors' Committee, p 3 (the joint submission from the University Chancellor's Council - Universities Australia to the Review of National Governance Protocols was provided to the committee as part of the Submission 2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Submission 8, University of Technology, Sydney, p 5

While it is generally acknowledged that a smaller Council can make decisions more quickly, it is not clear that quick decision-making equates to either efficiency or effectiveness, which depend, of course, on the scope and quality of the decisions and their outcomes.<sup>111</sup>

- **4.17** Other inquiry participants also saw debate as critical to the governance process, rather than a hindrance. Mr James Campbell, Caseworker and Policy Officer, Student Representative Council at the University of Sydney, said that '... what we want is not to remove the sense of balance and a sense of debate, and that is what happens when you go to a small group and commercially focused governing body'.<sup>112</sup>
- **4.18** Ms Kay Hempsall, Member of the University of New England Council and Manager, Organisational Development at the University, argued that rigorous debate is crucial to discussion of significant or controversial issues:

... the vast majority of business is conducted quite expeditiously ... The items which take longer to process are in actual fact those items which are contentious. Therefore, I think that it is very important to have debate about those issues which are contentious, particularly when large sums of public money are involved. I think it is very important to have a very broad range of views with respect to that ... <sup>113</sup>

4.19 A similar view was held by Dr Michael Spence, Vice-Chancellor of the University of Sydney:

We will never get a senate that looks like a Sunday school picnic, and I do not think anyone would want that. What we want is a senate that is adequately informed so that the heated arguments are the right heated arguments in the sense that they are about a genuine divergence of views. That is, the Senate has all the information it needs to decide between those different views collectively. Aspirationally, that is where I as an administrator hope our Senate goes.<sup>114</sup>

**4.20** While most inquiry participants believed that the current size of governing bodies was satisfactory, or should be reduced, others by inference called for an expansion of governing bodies, through the inclusion of more university stakeholders. For example, Mr Noah White, President of the Students' Representative Council, the University of Sydney, recommended an expansion of student representation on governing bodies.<sup>115</sup> The Community and Public Sector Union took a similar position, arguing for changes to the current framework 'to ensure a broader representation of the communities that the University Councils are serving'.<sup>116</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Submission 20, p 60

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Mr James Campbell, Case Worker and Policy Officer, Student Representative Council, The University of Sydney, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 48

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Ms Kay Hempsall, Member, University of New England Council and Manager, Organisational Development, University of New England, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Dr Michael Spence, Vice-Chancellor, The University of Sydney, Evidence, 26 March 2009, p 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Mr Noah White, President, Students' Representative Council, University of Sydney, Evidence 26 February 2009 p 44

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Submission 19, CPSU – SPSF, NSW Branch/Public Sector Association, p 4

## Should university Acts provide greater flexibility with regard to size?

**4.21** Evidence to the Committee suggested that the university Acts do not provide each governing body with sufficient flexibility to determine its optimum size. Mr Alan Cameron, Deputy Chancellor of the University of Sydney, observed that the current structure was somewhat inflexible, particularly with regard to changing size:

If, for example, the Senate felt that to meet a particular circumstance it wanted to enlarge itself by another four fellows for three years to address a particular need, we could not do that without persuading the government of the day to legislate. If on the other hand we want to contract the size of the senate to meet a particular problem, we could not do that without legislative approval. There is something to be said for a less rigid structure in the legislation as a whole.<sup>117</sup>

- **4.22** Ms Rytmeister argued in her submission that 'a minimum, rather than a maximum, size should be set down in the legislation in order to protect the public interest and stakeholder groups'.<sup>118</sup>
- **4.23** The National Tertiary Education Industry Union (NTEU), NSW Branch agreed that there should be a 'flexible approach to size and composition of governing bodies, as this should be determined by the needs of the institution itself'. It argued, however, that 'governing bodies should have a minimum of 18 members to ensure an appropriate diversity of experience'.<sup>119</sup>
- **4.24** The University of Technology, Sydney recommended that the Committee consider the proposed Victorian model which would allow each university to determine the size of its governing body within the range of 14 to 22 members.<sup>120</sup>
- **4.25** According to the joint submission from the University Chancellors' Council and Universities Australia to the Review of the National Governance Protocols:

As to the most desirable size of a governing body, there was a range of views among Chancellors and Vice Chancellors. In general, it was felt that the present maximum of 22 is acceptable, particularly as it is possible for Universities to have a smaller number if that were to suit their circumstances better ... It is important that Universities should have flexibility in this regard.<sup>121</sup>

#### **Committee comment**

**4.26** The Committee heard a range of views on the size of governing bodies. Only one university, the University of New South Wales, expressed a strong view that governing bodies are too large. Other inquiry participants were generally satisfied with the current size of governing bodies, although they stressed the importance of flexibility in the university Acts for each governing body to determine its optimum size. The Committee's recommendations

- <sup>120</sup> Submission 8, p 5
- <sup>121</sup> Submission 2, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Mr Alan Cameron, Deputy Chancellor, University of Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Submission 20, p 61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union – NSW Branch, p 4

concerning the size of governing bodies are found at paragraphs 4.96-4.100, following discussion of the composition of the governing body.

# Composition of governing bodies

**4.27** As with size, the Committee heard a range of opinions regarding the ideal composition of governing bodies. In particular, there was debate concerning the benefits brought by governing body members selected from amongst the staff, students and alumni of the university.

# Benefits of staff, student and alumni members

- **4.28** Inquiry participants in general agreed that staff, student and alumni representatives make a positive and important contribution to university governance.
- **4.29** An article published in *Company Director* magazine, co-written by the Deputy Chancellor of the University of Sydney and provided to the Committee, described the strengths of elected representatives as enthusiasm and commitment, bringing a diversity of views and experiences, credibility among stakeholders and ability to predict stakeholder reactions.<sup>122</sup>
- **4.30** According to the NTEU, 'university staff and students play a vital role on governing bodies... Members on university governing bodies have a responsibility to act as a conduit for views within the university community, including its external environment'.<sup>123</sup>
- **4.31** Ms Hempsall said that 'elected representatives often have the bigger picture of the long-term success and prosperity of the university at heart'. The presence of elected representatives results in 'bringing many different points of view into a pot, if you like, to be able to ultimately work towards the best solution'.<sup>124</sup>
- **4.32** Similarly, Ms Rytmeister cautioned that 'if universities are not careful to draw their governing body membership from diverse backgrounds', they could be in danger of only looking at short-term outcomes.<sup>125</sup>
- **4.33** The University of Technology, Sydney expressed the view that that:

Universities are complex organisations with needs and activities different from commercial enterprises and, as such, are strongly of the view that the skills and experience that staff and students bring to a governing body are particularly important. Decision making needs to be underpinned by a sound understanding of the University's principal functions of teaching/learning and research. Financial and commercial expertise is necessary, but not sufficient, for the governing body to be

- <sup>123</sup> Submission 23, p 3
- <sup>124</sup> Ms Hempsall, Evidence, 17 March 2009, pp 4-5
- <sup>125</sup> Ms Catherine Rytmeister, Lecturer, Higher Education Development and PhD student, Macquarie University, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Tabled document, Ralph L and Cameron A, 'The Challenge of the Representative Board', *Company Director*, June 2006, p 3

able to make effective decisions that are in the long-term interests of the University.  $^{\scriptscriptstyle 126}$ 

**4.34** Professor Hilmer also acknowledged the important role of staff and students on governing bodies:

If the staff and the students have serious problems with me I think it is not wrong for the governing body to hear that. I do not mind having them there. I think they are constructive members actually. Having them there and being elected is sort of a safety valve. It is sort of part of the symbolism of an academic community as opposed to a corporation with owners who sit on the board and just decide on the profits.<sup>127</sup>

**4.35** A similar view was expressed by the Reverend Judith Redman, a former member of the University of New England Council, who told the Committee that the expertise of elected members complemented the expertise of external members:

There needs to be a majority of people who are not in a particular relationship with the university involved in the governance, but I think there needs to be a group of people who are more than just one lone voice. There needs to be people with a range of expertise...<sup>128</sup>

- **4.36** Associate Professor Madison agreed, noting that staff, student and alumni representatives assist external appointments by providing 'context, background, balance, information for those external appointments of the council'.<sup>129</sup>
- **4.37** The Australian Institute of Company Directors acknowledged that 'elected members provide valuable perspectives to the governing body...'<sup>130</sup>
- **4.38** In relation to the representation of staff, students and alumni on governing bodies, the joint submission from the University Chancellors' Council and Universities Australia to the Review of the National Governance Protocol said that:

Some Chancellors and Vice Chancellors believe that governance without the direct participation of students and staff would be inconsistent with the objectives of a university; some others believe students need to be involved but not staff (other than the Vice Chancellor and Chair of Academic Senate); still others would happily operate without either group being represented and would prefer to deal with student and staff concerns through other consultative arrangements. Similar differences exist on the question of alumni representation.<sup>131</sup>

**4.39** The Committee heard evidence from Dr Maxine Darnell, President, University of New England Branch of the NTEU, that the important role of universities in regional areas, such as

- <sup>127</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 24
- Reverend Judith Redman, Former Member, University of New England Council, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 27
- <sup>129</sup> Associate Professor Madison, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 35
- <sup>130</sup> Submission 18, p 2
- <sup>131</sup> Submission 2, p 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Submission 8, p 5

New England, warranted local regional stakeholders being represented on the governing body.<sup>132</sup>

**4.40** Dr Herman Beyersdorf, a former member of the University of New England Council, agreed that staff, student and alumni representation had an important role in regional areas. Dr Beyersdorf argued that the larger number of external members on the UNE governing body 'from outside the immediate region' as being a problem because, although they had 'undoubted expertise, including financial and other qualifications', they did not have 'much insight into the university'.<sup>133</sup>

## Criticisms of staff, student and alumni members

- **4.41** While there was agreement that staff, student and alumni representatives play an important role on university governing bodies, a number of participants criticised the behaviour of these representatives. Of particular concern was an alleged tendency to represent constituencies rather than the interests of the university.
- **4.42** In the *Company Director* article provided to the Committee by the Deputy Chancellor of the University of Sydney, the typical criticisms of elected representatives were described as a lack of skills and experience, the tension between obligations to the Company and to their constituency, poor group dynamics, confusion around the respective accountabilities of board and management, and lack of monitoring of elected representatives by the constituency who elected them.<sup>134</sup>
- **4.43** Ms Rytmeister interviewed 36 university governing body members from seven Australian universities for her doctorate on University Governance. Based on this study, My Rytmeister advised that: 'There is a perception that some university Councils are dominated by alumni, leading to an unhealthy focus on preserving the past character of the institution rather than than a future-oriented strategic approach to governance'.<sup>135</sup>
- **4.44** Mr Cassidy argued that 'elected members tend to vote in a block at council and there is an issue of governance right there in my opinion'.<sup>136</sup>
- **4.45** According to Professor Hilmer, if the staff, student and alumni representatives are at odds with the rest of the governing body, 'the university ends up with a rump on council'. Further, 'you then have a small group, not insignificant but say one-third of the council .... being absolutely disruptive and unproductive ... That is as about as destabilising as you could want'.<sup>137</sup>

- <sup>134</sup> Tabled document, *Company Director*, p 3
- <sup>135</sup> Submission 20, p 57
- <sup>136</sup> Mr John Cassidy, Former Chancellor, University of New England, Evidence, 3 April 2009, p 4
- <sup>137</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Dr Maxine Darnell, President, University of New England Branch of the NTEU, Evidence 17 March 2009, p 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Dr Herman Beyersdorf, Former Member, University of New England Council, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 26

- **4.46** The Australian Institute of Company Directors cautioned that 'members of university governing bodies have a duty to act in the best interest of the whole university' even if they 'believe they represent certain community interests or groups'.<sup>138</sup>
- **4.47** Ms Rytmeister, however, observed that 'there is little evidence that internal members act in interests other than those of the university, although they may at times interpret these interests differently from external members'.<sup>139</sup> She gave evidence that:

Some staff and student-elected members in my study gave accounts of the ways in which a narrow interpretation of "the interests of the university" may be combined with a broad labelling of their contributions as "advocacy", in order to restrict debate and contributions from certain stakeholder groups, principally staff and students.<sup>140</sup>

**4.48** Associate Professor Madison argued that all members of a governing body have the university's best interests at heart:

Why would you be on a governing body without respecting the core business of that organisation? It is hard to understand why you would think serving on the governing body was appropriate if you did not respect what the organisation was doing.<sup>141</sup>

**4.49** The NTEU supported the view that students and staff act in the interests of the university, and noted that it should be recognised that there are different and conflicting views concerning what is in the interests of the university:

Protocol 3 should explicitly state that the rationale for selection or election of many members of governing bodies is precisely because they are expected to understand the perspective of a particular constituency that is important to he university.<sup>142</sup>

**4.50** Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor of the University of Technology, Sydney, told the Committee that there have been some 'robust discussions, particularly around the difficult issues of fees and some other things that are at the heart of the historic nature of the university'. He said:

I pay credit particularly to the elected members of staff and the students who entered into those debates about structures in a spirit of not singly representing where they came from but the collegiate perspective; that is, they acted in the best interests of the university.<sup>143</sup>

- <sup>140</sup> Submission 20, p 30
- <sup>141</sup> Associate Professor Madison, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 36
- <sup>142</sup> Submission 23, p 10
- <sup>143</sup> Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor, University of Technology, Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 34

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Submission 18, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Submission 20, p 61

#### Selection of staff, student and alumni representatives

- **4.51** Some inquiry participants, while supporting the representation of staff, students and alumni on governing bodies, questioned the method of open election, given the small numbers of eligible persons participating in these elections. Of particular concern was voter turnout for student and alumni elections. Some participants argued that open election should be replaced by a nomination process, whereby the governing body could determine the most appropriate candidate for the position.
- **4.52** The joint submission from the University Chancellors' Council and Universities Australia to the Review of the National Governance Protocols questioned the merits of open elections for staff and students, observing that:

Most Chancellors and Vice-Chancellors felt that open election was not consistent with securing the optimal skills mixture. It was noted also that many elections of student or staff members were decided with just a handful of electors casting votes. A preferable system might be to have nominations for these positions in a transparent and consultative manner, with the final selection being made by the governing body, taking account of skills, experience and motivation.<sup>144</sup>

- **4.53** While accepting that governing bodies should consider the views of university staff, students and alumni, Mr Cassidy argued that open elections did not select candidates with the requisite skills and experience.<sup>145</sup>
- **4.54** In reference to the numbers of electors participating in alumni elections, Professor Hilmer, said 'because very few people vote out of the 200,000 electors it is something like 2,000 votes, or about 1 per cent, for alumni it is not that hard to run a campaign'.<sup>146</sup> According to Professor Hilmer, 'we should not be bound by an election process, which frankly has been taken over a few times in our history'.<sup>147</sup>
- **4.55** In response to claims of low voter turnout, Dr Robin Fitzsimons, Fellow of the University of Sydney Senate told the Committee that at approximately 10,000 alumni voted for alumni representation at the University of Sydney, which 'is a mark of real involvement'.<sup>148</sup>
- **4.56** Mr White commented on elections for student representatives at the University of Sydney:

With student voting, probably an average number of students who vote in election might be about 3,000 out of 33,000 undergraduate students, but 33,000 undergraduate students are not on campus all on the same day when those elections are held. Only about 9,000 students are on campus that day in total, undergraduates and post-graduates. There is a point to be made that while the numbers are low and there is a problem with that; they are not as low as they might seem.<sup>149</sup>

- <sup>145</sup> Submission 27, p 10
- <sup>146</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, pp 23-24
- <sup>147</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 24
- <sup>148</sup> Dr Robin Fitzsimons, Fellow, The University of Sydney Senate, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 39
- <sup>149</sup> Mr White, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Submission 2, p 3

- **4.57** The Committee heard evidence that some universities are moving to electronic voting for staff and student elections, to facilitate participation. For example, at the University of Sydney staff and student elections will be conducted electronically this year. The exception is alumni elections, because according to Mr Cameron, 'trying to switch the graduate roll to an electronic roll is proving to be impossible'.<sup>150</sup>
- **4.58** Dr Fitzsimons cautioned that alumni 'might not be quite ready for electronic elections we do it by paper otherwise you would get an unacceptable bias'.<sup>151</sup>
- **4.59** Eight NSW universities have the option under their university Acts to either elect or appoint representatives from the university alumni. Of those, five universities have opted to appoint rather than elect alumni members to their governing bodies.
- **4.60** The University of Technology, Sydney outlined the process set out in its By-Laws for Convocation<sup>152</sup> representatives to be appointed by Council. The process operates as follows:
  - members of the Convocation are invited to propose members suitable for appointment to the governing body
  - the Nominations Committee advises the Council on the suitability of proposed candidates, giving consideration to the skills and experience of continuing Council members, and the skills and experience needed by Council as a whole
  - the Council then determines who is to be appointed and for what term.
- **4.61** Support for this type of model was expressed by Professor Hilmer, who gave evidence that alumni members of governing bodies should 'be selected on the basis of their skills not on an agenda they are trying to run'.<sup>153</sup> Professor Hilmer proposed that alumni representatives on the University of New South Wales Council be selected by a 'nominating committee with a fairly clear charter to get the skill balance that is needed by the university'.<sup>154</sup>
- **4.62** The University of Technology, Sydney proposed extending the model for appointment of its Convocation representatives to staff and student representatives.<sup>155</sup> If such a model was introduced, staff and student representatives would no longer be selected through open election, but would be appointed by the Council based on their skills and experience.
- **4.63** Dr Spence, however, confirmed the University of Sydney's general commitment to the election process, stating that the abolition of elections for staff and students 'is not something we have considered, and is not something that I can imagine that we would consider'.

- <sup>153</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 24
- <sup>154</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 24
- <sup>155</sup> Submission 8, p 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Dr Fitzsimons, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> The University of Technology, Sydney Act specifies that one or more members of the Convocation, rather than alumni, should be on the governing body. In the case of the University, the Convocation comprises the members and former members of a governing body; the graduates of the university; and current academic staff.

#### Tenure of student representatives

- **4.64** Student representatives from the University of Sydney raised concerns about the tenure of student representatives elected to the governing body.
- **4.65** Under the university Acts, the term of office for governing body members varies according to the category of membership. Terms for appointed and elected representatives vary but are not to exceed, respectively, four and two years (for some institutions, three years). However, no minimum term is prescribed.
- **4.66** Mr White noted the discrepancy between the tenure for students compared to other members of the University Senate:

The tenure on the university Senate is one year for a student representative whereas for all other positions it is at least two years. The problem with that is that the student representatives that I have seen go through the process of being on that governance committee really only get into it properly at the end of their first year. By the end of it hey are able to sit there with the vice-chancellor and argue across the table  $\dots$ <sup>156</sup>

**4.67** This concern was raised with Ms Rytmeister, who said that several of her study participants had:

... identified the short term for student members (usually one year) as an impediment to their effectiveness, as they often were initially overwhelmed, and needed some time to "get up to speed" with the role. Student members themselves spoke of feeling confident and knowledgeable enough to participate more actively in Council business only towards the end of their term of membership.<sup>157</sup>

**4.68** Mr Cameron, Deputy Chancellor at the University of Sydney, acknowledged that this is an issue at the University of Sydney:

I have a view that it would be a good idea to consider staggered two-year terms for student Fellows so that the undergraduate fellow is elected for two years in one year, and the postgraduate fellow is elected for two years in the following year. In that way there is always one student with a degree of experience and one who is learning the ropes.<sup>158</sup>

**4.69** Dr Spence, Vice-Chancellor at the University of Sydney told the Committee that as part of a current review of the Senate structure, extending the tenure of student representatives from one to two years '... is something we are thinking about at the moment'.<sup>159</sup>

- <sup>157</sup> Submission 20, p 53
- <sup>158</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 3
- <sup>159</sup> Dr Spence, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Mr White, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 45

# Alumni representation

- **4.70** In addition to proposals to end open election of alumni, a proposal was made by the University of New South Wales to end the practice of having designated alumni positions on their University Council. A number of inquiry participants opposed this proposal.
- **4.71** The University of New South Wales Council proposed a reduction in the size of the council from its current size of 22 members to between 11 and 14 members.<sup>160</sup> While all elected positions representing academic and non-academic staff, and undergraduate and postgraduate students would be retained, the reduction would be achieved by abolishing designated alumni positions. Professor Hilmer gave evidence that '... other than staff and student members we would not have alumni elections. We would have fewer elected positions in our view we have too many elected positions'.<sup>161</sup>
- **4.72** The Committee notes that the University of New South Wales and the University of Sydney are required by their university Acts to have more alumni members on their governing bodies than the other NSW universities. In the second reading debate regarding treform of the university Acts in 2004, the then Deputy Premier observed that, 'differing provisions have been made for the University of Sydney and the University of New South Wales so they largely retain their existing situations in relation to graduate members'. This was done 'at their request'.<sup>162</sup>
- **4.73** Ms Rytmeister commented on the reduction in alumni representation on university governing bodies, observing that:

In most Australian jurisdictions and most universities, specific Convocation/alumni membership has either been abolished altogether or reduced to only one or two members... exceptions to this are some of the Group of 8 universities which have generally maintained a higher level of alumni-elected members... <sup>163</sup>

- 4.74 Concerning their current proposal for change, the University of New South Wales Council advised that 'there was consensus that whilst being a graduate was a valuable attribute, this could be addressed through the proposed nomination process for the remainder of the positions'.<sup>164</sup> The Council's proposal would require that at least one Council member was an alumnus, but this person would be appointed to the Council having regard to their skills, expertise and experience, rather than by virtue of being an alumnus of the University.<sup>165</sup>
- **4.75** Professor Hilmer explained that at the time the University of New South Wales was established, designated alumni positions were needed '... because as a new university we

- <sup>164</sup> Submission 12, p 2
- <sup>165</sup> Submission 12, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Submission 12, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> NSWPD (Legislative Assembly), University Legislation Amendment Bill, 26 October 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Submission 20, p 48

wanted to make sure that the alumni got involved ...<sup>166</sup> He suggested that this rationale no longer applied.

4.76 In response to Professor Hilmer's comments, Dr Fitzsimons said:

I would disagree with the general point made by Profesor Hilmer who said that the older you become the less important elections become. I would say that the older a university becomes the more established the alumni base becomes and therefore alumni elections are more important.<sup>167</sup>

**4.77** Others participants emphasised the importance of maintaining designated alumni representation on governing bodies. According to the University of New South Wales Alumni Association:

The alumni of this and other universities are among the most significant external stakeholders as permanent members of the University ... The value of our degrees depends on the success and reputation of the University ... Alumni arguably have the strongest vested interest in the quality, standards and reputation of the University.<sup>168</sup>

**4.78** Dr Jessica Milner Davis, former Deputy Chancellor of the University of New South Wales, described the role played by alumni:

Firstly, it is because, as I have said, they combine this external and internal dimension, so they can be somewhat of a bridge ...

Secondly, they have a direct and personal stake in the university from which they graduated. The success or diminution in degrees of that institution hits their nerves and their trouser pockets, their wallets and their handbags ...

Thirdly  $\dots$  The body corporate has only two classes of life members, the alumni and the emeritus staff. Everybody else is temporary.<sup>169</sup>

**4.79** Inquiry participants such as Dr Milner Davis argued that alumni should be involved in governance arrangements, given the extent of their contribution to universities:

It just seems natural to me that if you want to say to the alumni, "We would like your money. We would like your support. We would like you to open doors", you might do them the courtesy of saying, "And we would like you to participate in running the place from which you obtained your degree".<sup>170</sup>

**4.80** Mr White, President of the Students' Representative Council at the University of Sydney, agreed that the alumni were 'a very important part of the university community'. Having gone through the university they had 'a good understanding of what the institution is about and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Dr Fitzsimons, Evidence, 23 March p 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Submission 16, UNSW Alumni Association, p 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> Dr Jessica Milner Davis, Former Deputy Chancellor, University of New South Wales, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Dr Milner Davis, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 21

traditions of the institution as well'. However, he observed that 'in relation to the actual number of alumni on governing bodies, it is a large number'.<sup>171</sup>

**4.81** While the University of Sydney argued that universities should have greater flexibility in determining the size of their governing bodies, it supported the current composition of its own Senate:

With respect to the size and profile of the governing body our view is that the current size and membership profile of the Senate of the University of Sydney appropriately reflects the diverse constituencies which have a legitimate interest and should have a useful role to play in the governance of the institution. It follows that membership of the Senate should include staff, students and graduates.<sup>172</sup>

- **4.82** In response to suggestions that alumni representation be decreased, Dr Fitzsimons said that '... if that view were expressed at Sydney, there would be blood on the streets, not to mention withdrawal of funding ....<sup>173</sup>
- **4.83** Dr Fitzsimons was of the view that alumni must be consulted on any proposals to change their representation on governing bodies: '... if there is a proposal to change those university Acts in a way that is detrimental to any one group of university members, there should be a requirement that those university members should be consulted'.<sup>174</sup> She said that 'certainly if there were any other proposals to decrease, then I would think you would require that there should be a mandated plebiscite of alumni. It is exceptionally important'.<sup>175</sup>

## Ministerial appointments

- **4.84** In comparison to other states, NSW has retained a high degree of ministerial responsibility for governing body appointments, with most governing bodies having six ministerial appointees.<sup>176</sup> Ministerial appointments may avoid the risk of a self-perpetuating board. In her evidence, Ms Rytmeister discussed self-perpetuating boards in which: "There is a risk of stagnation and there is risk of only seeking members who think like we do'.<sup>177</sup>
- **4.85** Ms Rytmeister gave evidence that 'the number of Ministerial appointees is not of itself problematic, provided the Minister's usual practice of appointing the university's nominees continues. There is, however, no formal protection against "political" appointments being made ...<sup>178</sup>

- <sup>172</sup> Submission 7, University of Sydney, Attachment 1, pp 1-2
- <sup>173</sup> Dr Fitzsimons, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 39
- <sup>174</sup> Dr Fitzsimons, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 40
- <sup>175</sup> Dr Fitzsimons, Evidence 23 March 2009, p 39
- <sup>176</sup> Submission 20, pp 49-56
- <sup>177</sup> Ms Rytmeister, Evidence, 23 Mach 2009, p 15
- <sup>178</sup> Submission 20, p 56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Mr White, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 48

- **4.86** Further, she advised that 'while these appointments are usually made on the recommendation of the Council concerned, several of my study participants noted that Ministers do not always accept Council recommendations, and may use their own discretion in appointments'.<sup>179</sup>
- **4.87** In response to the question of whether a governing body's nominees had ever been rejected by the Minister, Dr Milner Davis said that she believed this may have happened on occasion:

I believe also that there have been individual cases in which there has been to-ing and fro-ing between the Minister and the chancellor or vice-chancellor about particular names. You might find that the names that end up being appointed in all cases are not necessarily the identical list that was put forward by a council. I repeat that you cannot fetter ministerial discretion when the Minister has the right to appoint under the legislation.<sup>180</sup>

**4.88** Ms Rytmeister claimed that 'of greater concern for some institutions is the imbalance between Ministerial and Council appointees'.<sup>181</sup> Such concerns arise because while some governing bodies can directly appoint up to eight of their own members, others such as the University of Sydney can appoint only one. Ms Rytmeister recommended that:

The number of Ministerial appointments on NSW university governing bodies should be reduced from six to three, transferring the responsibility for appointing three positions to the governing body. Alternatively, governing bodies should be allowed to match Ministerial appointments with direct appointments, even if this means exceeding 22 members.<sup>182</sup>

**4.89** Ms Rytmeister drew the Committee's attention to the provisions in the *Australian National University Act*, which require that if a Minister decides not to appoint the nominee recommended by the governing body:

... the Minister must notify the Council in writing and provide reasons for the decision. This provision appears to give adequate protection against nominations being refused for external political or partisan reasons, and prevents Ministers from appointing their own agents or advocates as members of the ANU Council.<sup>183</sup>

**4.90** The Committee also heard evidence on the practice of appointing Members of Parliament to university councils. Previously each House of the NSW Parliament elected one its members to the each governing body, but this practice ceased with the introduction of the National Governance Protocols.<sup>184</sup> Ms Rytmeister advised that, although they are no longer required to have Members of Parliament on their governing bodies, universities had tended to continue this practice, by 'recommending that the Minister appoint two Members of Parliament to the Council, one from the Lower House and one from the Upper House ...'<sup>185</sup>

- <sup>180</sup> Dr Milner Davis, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 25
- <sup>181</sup> Submission 20, p 56

- <sup>183</sup> Submission 20, p 49
- <sup>184</sup> NSWPD (Legislative Assembly), 26 October 2004, p 11988
- <sup>185</sup> Submission 20, p 56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Submission 20, p 49

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Submission 20, p 8

- **4.91** Several inquiry participants commented favourably on the role played by Members of Parliament serving on governing bodies. According to Mr Mark Dolahenty, Senior Industrial Officer, NTEU NSW Division, 'very often members of Parliament can act as the honest broker on a university council because there can be no question of retribution against them they are members of Parliament'<sup>186</sup>
- **4.92** A similar view was expressed by Dr Beyersdorf, who said that '... members of Parliament often tend to be very independent and forthright. Of course, they have no reason to be afraid of any action by the powers that be. I certainly served with people from both major sides of Parliament and found most of them to be very good.'<sup>187</sup>
- **4.93** This view was shared by Ms Rytmeister:

Of course, one of the positives is that a member of Parliament who is on a governing body has an independent source of authority ... At times when it comes to asking some critical questions that can be very useful. I know in the past that it has been useful in my own institution.<sup>188</sup>

# **Committee comment**

- **4.94** Inquiry participants supported the representation of staff, students and alumni on governing bodies. The Committee believes that these members play a unique role by representing the views of university stakeholders. Their views complement the expertise, skills and experience brought by external members, who may not have had a prior connection with the university. While some inquiry participants felt staff, student and alumni representatives were too narrowly focused on the interests of their constituencies, these concerns were isolated, and do not diminish the importance of the contribution made by these representatives in general.
- **4.95** The Committee believes that universities should be allowed to exercise some flexibility in determining the optimum size of their governing bodies. Most universities are satisfied with the current size of their governing bodies. While the University of New South Wales Council has called for the size of its governing body to be substantially reduced, their concerns may be partly allayed by altering the statutory composition of its Council. The Committee believes that consideration should be given to extending the flexibility available to other universities to affect the size of their governing bodies, to the University of New South Wales, as discussed below.
- **4.96** The University of New South Wales has proposed that the Minister for Education and Training decrease the size of its Council, by abolishing designated alumni positions. The University would however require that at least one Council member be an alumnus. The Committee understands that the Minister for Education and Training is giving the proposed change careful consideration, whilst awaiting the report of this Inquiry. On the other hand, the Committee heard evidence that because of the importance of university alumni in supporting their alma maters, they should have the right to be represented on governing bodies. These

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> Mr Mark Dolahenty, Senior Industrial Officer, NTEU - NSW Division, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Dr Beyersdorf, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Ms Rytmeister, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 17

inquiry participants argued that alumni representation on governing bodies therefore should not be reduced.

- **4.97** The University of New South Wales along with Sydney University are more constrained than the other NSW universities by their legislation, with regard to size and composition of their governing bodies. The legislation mandates a relatively large number of alumni and academic staff representatives on their governing bodies, which operate, therefore, near or at the maximum size of 22 members. This provides little flexibility for these governing bodies to alter their size. In this respect their Acts differ noticeably from those of other university NSW universities and most universities across Australia, where alumni membership has been abolished or reduced to one or two members. The higher number of alumni representatives on the governing bodies of the University of New South Wales and the University of Sydney is a consequence of a request made by these two universities at the time of the 2004 legislative reforms.
- **4.98** The Committee believes that university alumni play an important role on governing bodies. The Committee agrees that if universities are to rely on the support of their alumni, then they should be represented on governing bodies. The Committee does not support abolition of designated alumni positions.
- **4.99** However, the Committee is of the view that consideration should be given to permitting the University of New South Wales to bring its legislation into line with that of other NSW universities with regard to alumni representation. The Committee believes that any changes should be considered in consultation with the alumni of the University.

## **Recommendation 2**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the provisions in the University of New South Wales Act 1989 regarding the number of mandated alumni positions, in line with other universities. This should occur following consultation by the University with its alumni.

**4.100** Some inquiry participants questioned whether open election was the best means to select staff, student and alumni representatives. It was claimed that low voter turnout undermined the representative claims of elected members, particularly alumni representatives. Some inquiry participants proposed that alumni representatives instead be appointed by the governing body. Indeed, the Committee notes that half of the NSW universities, being the University of Technology, Sydney, Macquarie University, Charles Sturt University, Newcastle University and Southern Cross University, are already using the power under their Acts to appoint rather than elect their alumni (or Convocation) members. The Committee believes that all NSW universities should have the flexibility to decide whether to appoint rather than elect their alumni members. The Committee does not, however, support the proposal by the University of Technology, Sydney to extend the process for appointing Convocation members to staff and student representatives.

## **Recommendation 3**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to provide all university governing bodies with the flexibility to either appoint or elect their alumni (or Convocation) members.

**4.101** Another issue relating to composition was the one-year tenure of student representatives elected to the University of Sydney Senate. The Committee heard evidence that all other members had terms of at least two years. It was proposed that the tenure of student representatives be increased, to allow students sufficient time to develop the necessary skills to function as effective members of the governing body. The Committee supports this position, and believes that this argument applies equally to all members of governing bodies. The Committee therefore recommends that all members of a governing body should have at least a two-year term. In addition, the election of representatives with two-year terms should be staggered, with half the number being retired at each election, to ensure continuity of experience.

#### **Recommendation 4**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to increase the minimum term for all members of university governing bodies from one to two years, with half the number being retired at each election.

# Chapter 5 Structural issues

This chapter will examine a number of structural issues raised during the Inquiry, including the remuneration of governing body members, Vice-Chancellors' voting rights, the membership of audit and remuneration committees, material interests declared by governing body members, and provisions to affect the dismissal of a Chancellor.

# Remuneration of governing body members

- **5.1** During the Inquiry, it was suggested that remuneration of governing body members be considered. At present, the university Acts are silent on the issue of remuneration for members of governing bodies.
- **5.2** Professor Geoffrey Kiel, in his paper on *Managing Relationships on University Councils*, argued that remuneration should be introduced for members of governing bodies, in line with the trend to pay appropriate remuneration to directors of corporations and non-profit organisations:

If council members are expected to contribute much greater hours to their duties, if there is a higher level of personal risk with respect to their membership of council and these new council members are selected on the basis of the particular skills, knowledge, expertise and social capital they hold, then the very nature of the relationship between the council member and the university will have changed.<sup>189</sup>

- **5.3** Professor Eilis Magner, Chair of the Academic Board at the University of New England, said that 'students and maybe external members of Council could be paid a sitting fee'.<sup>190</sup> Professor Magner did not support remuneration for staff representatives. In relation to the University of New England, she advised that 'at points in 2008 there was a distressing absence of members of the University Council while business of the University was being discussed'.<sup>191</sup> Professor Magner suggested that remuneration could improve attendance at meetings.
- **5.4** Since 2003 Victorian universities have had the capacity to remunerate elected or appointed members of the governing body, at the discretion of the governing body. Certain members cannot be remunerated, such as full-time university staff members, office holders under the Crown and officers in a statutory authority, and Members of Parliament. Currently, of the eight Victorian universities, six provide remuneration.<sup>192</sup> Following a recent review of its higher education legislation, the Victorian Government concluded that remuneration should be a condition of appointment to a governing body.<sup>193</sup>

- <sup>190</sup> Professor Eilis Magner, Professor and Chair of the Academic Board, University of New England, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 41
- <sup>191</sup> Submission 32, Professor Eilis Magner, p 2
- <sup>192</sup> Email from Mr Ian Gribble, Manager, Governance Unit, Victorian Department of Innovation, Industry and Regional Development, to Principal Council Officer, 11 May 2009
- <sup>193</sup> Victorian Government, Statement of Intent: Higher Education Legislation Review, Melbourne 2008, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Kiel G, 'Managing Relationships on University Councils', paper presented to University Governance: Managing Relations Conference, Victoria University, 30 March 2007, p 12

- **5.5** Levels of remuneration are determined within the existing framework for remuneration of members of State Government boards, members of statutory bodies and advisory committees. In this framework the Chancellor receives a higher rate of remuneration than other members of the governing body. Certain members of governing bodies are also eligible for travel allowances. The current levels of remuneration for governing body members of Victorian universities are outlined at Appendix 5.
- 5.6 On remuneration of student representatives in particular, Professor Magner said:

It means that they do not have to get an additional job and I have been very conscious of the fact that our student members do frequently need to get that. How you combine proper attendance to the governance functions with your studies and with an external job is beyond me. I think that is a really big call.<sup>194</sup>

**5.7** Remuneration of governing body members was supported by the United Kingdom's 2004 *Good Governance Standard for Public Services*:

Paying governors for their time may make participation in governance a practical option for more people and encourage a wider range of people to take part; it can also be a way of publicly recognising the seriousness of governance responsibilities.<sup>195</sup>

5.8 Mr John Cassidy, former chancellor of the University of New England, observed that:

Whilst the Chancellor sits at the apex of the organisation, incongruously the position is unpaid notwithstanding the responsibilities, under both the UNE Act and the Corporations Act, are onerous ... Independent members of Council, including the Chancellor if he or she meets that description, should be remunerated if not already paid by the State ...Council members, as is the case with directors of public companies, accept onerous fiduciary duties and responsibilities. Remuneration should be forthcoming, perhaps in the range of \$35,000 to \$50,000 per annum.<sup>196</sup>

## Committee comment

- **5.9** The Committee supports the proposal to remunerate members of governing bodies to recognise the increasing demands of governing body membership. In particular, the Committee notes that remuneration could allow student representatives more time to focus on their role as a member of a governing body.
- **5.10** Consideration would need to be given to the persons eligible for remuneration, as we do not believe certain classes of people should be remunerated, such as university staff members, public servants and Members of Parliament. In addition, a mechanism would need to be devised to determine an appropriate level of remuneration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Professor Magner, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 41

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Independent Commission on Good Governance in Public Services, The Good Governance Standard for Public Services, Office for Public Management and The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 2004, p 19 (attached to submission 4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> Submission 27, Mr John Cassidy, p 12

#### **Recommendation 5**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to allow university governing bodies to remunerate their members, giving consideration to:

- eligibility for remuneration
- the appropriate level of remuneration.

# Vice-Chancellors' voting rights

- **5.11** Under the university Acts the Vice-Chancellor is an ex-officio member of a governing body with full voting rights. Inquiry participants held differing views as to whether it is appropriate for aVice-Chancellor to be a member of a governing body with consequent voting rights.
- **5.12** In his submission to the Inquiry, Dr Herman Beyersdorf, former staff representative on the University of New England Council, suggested that there was an inherent contradiction between a Vice-Chancellor's role as the university's chief executive officer, and a Vice-Chancellor's role as a full voting member of a university's governing body. He suggested a more appropriate model might be that of a General Manager of a Local Government Authority, who attends Council meetings to brief Councillors but does not vote.<sup>197</sup> Under such a model, a Vice-Chancellor would not be a member of a governing body and therefore not enjoy voting rights.
- **5.13** In response to questioning on whether it may be a conflict for a Vice-Chancellor to have voting rights, Reverend Judith Redman, a former member of the University of New England Council, said:

There might be circumstances where that might be possible but in general, no, I do not think so. I think that given that the role of the council is to ensure the governance of the university is carried out appropriately, one of the people who is in the best position to understand that in some circumstances is the person who is the CEO ... <sup>198</sup>

**5.14** Professor Magner, Chair of the Academic Board at the University of New England, was also questioned on whether it may be a conflict for a Vice-Chancellor to have voting rights. According to Professor Magner:

No, I do not as such. The Vice-Chancellor should have a role in determining the policy that the university is going to follow and that is the primary role of council. I think it is appropriate the Vice-Chancellor reports matters to council, as I do, and he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Submission 28, Dr Herman Beyersdorf, p 1. The relevant provision is contained in the *Local Government Act 1993* s 376

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Reverend Judith Redman, former member, University of New England Council, and Uniting Church chaplain on campus Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 28

should have a voice in the formulation of the policy that is going to guide what goes on in future.  $^{199}\,$ 

## **Committee comment**

**5.15** The Committee considers that a Vice-Chancellor plays an important role on a governing body. In the absence of strong evidence on this issue, the Committee is of the view that Vice-Chancellors should continue to enjoy voting rights.

# Membership of audit and remuneration committees

- **5.16** The Committee heard evidence, primarily from inquiry participants at the University of Sydney, that it was not appropriate for staff and student representatives to sit on the audit and remuneration committees of a governing body, due to a potential conflict of interest.
- **5.17** Mr Cameron, Deputy Chancellor, was asked to explain why the University of Sydney Senate excludes staff and student representatives from its Audit Committee:

The reason is that the audit committee, first of all, is monitoring the expenditure of money. In our view it would be inappropriate. In the same way as it is regarded as inappropriate for executive directors or other employees to serve on audit committees in public companies, so the university regards it as inappropriate for staff or students to serve on the audit committee to the extent that it audits.

I might say that in the context of the review of committees to which the vicechancellor referred, we are considering whether to remove risk management from audit in some way. My own view is that the same argument does not apply to the risk management aspects of the audit and risk management committee, and we might benefit from having staff and student participation on that side of the committee.<sup>200</sup>

- **5.18** On further questioning, Mr Cameron explained that it also was a matter of perception: 'I still think that there is an appearance of interest and they could not really separate the agenda of the audit committee so that it dealt with particular faculties'.<sup>201</sup>
- 5.19 In relation to membership of the remuneration committee, Mr Cameron said:

... it is really the same argument. The remuneration and benefits committee has to determine and effectively sign off on the remuneration packages, including performance components, for the most senior staff of the university. We do not think it is appropriate necessarily for other employed staff or students to be directly involved in that process. It is a question of probity and what the senate has thought appropriate over the years. On recollection, that is a matter of protocol rather than rule.<sup>202</sup>

- <sup>201</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 5
- <sup>202</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Professor Magner, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Mr Alan Cameron, Deputy Chancellor, University of Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, pp 4-5

- **5.20** On further questioning Mr Cameron explained that with regard to the Remuneration Committee, 'it would simply not be seemly to have a student directly involved in that process or, for that matter, a more junior staff member. It has been a question of propriety'.<sup>203</sup>
- **5.21** Dr Michael Spence, Vice-Chancellor of the University of Sydney, supported this position, drawing the Committee's attention to:

... the impact of staff and students present on the ability of other members of the Remuneration Committee to speak their minds freely about the performance of the senior executive group. It is in the interests of the university that that discussion be as robust as possible. For better or for worse, there is the real possibility that that discussion would be modified by the presence of staff and students.<sup>204</sup>

**5.22** According to Dr Alan Pettigrew, Vice-Chancellor of the University of New England, the University of New England adopts a similar position:

Membership of committees by staff and students is balanced at UNE by the roles and responsibilities of the committees themselves. For example, quite appropriately no staff or student members of Council sit on the Remuneration Committee of Council, but there is a staff member on each of the Finance Committee and the Infrastructure Committee.<sup>205</sup>

**5.23** Mr Mark Dolahenty, Senior Industrial Officer, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, argued that even if staff and student representatives are excluded from membership of the Remuneration Committee, they should be able to attend committee meetings as observers:

I think there is an issue about whether elected councillors should be voting members of the remuneration committee, and I think that is still something that should be considered. But all councillors should have access to every committee of council. This university, more than most in Australia, is run on public funds, and those meetings which deal with the expenditure of public monies must be open to the whole governing body. <sup>206</sup>

**5.24** Ms Kay Hempsall, member of the University of New England Council and Manager of Organisational Development, took a similar position: 'university expenditure and financial records are a public record and therefore I do not necessarily see that an elected member of council who happens to be a staff member ... should not necessarily be able to observe committee processes such as remuneration ...<sup>207</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Dr Michael Spence, Vice-Chancellor, University of Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Submission 14, University of New England, pp 11-12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Mr Mark Dolahenty, Senior Industrial Officer, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Ms Kay Hempsall, Member, University of New England Council and Manager, Organisational Development, University of New England, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 7

#### **Committee comment**

**5.25** Staff and student members of a governing body are in some instances excluded from membership, and attendance at meetings, of its audit and remuneration committees. The Committee believes that it would be inappropriate for staff or students to be involved in determining the remuneration packages of university employees. The Committee also considers that it would not be in the university's best interests for staff or students to be involved in auditing expenditure. However, the Committee agrees with the University of Sydney that staff and students may bring valuable insights to risk management processes. The Committee urges the Minister to recommend to university governing bodies that they investigate separating risk management considerations from the work of an audit committee.

#### **Recommendation 6**

That the Minister for Education and Training recommend to university governing bodies that they investigate separating risk management considerations from the work of an audit committee.

# Disclosure of material interests by governing body members

- **5.26** The members of a governing body are expected to make decisions on a range of challenging and occasionally controversial issues. To ensure impartial decision-making, members of governing bodies are required to disclose any material interests they may have in regard to the matters being considered.
- **5.27** The university Acts set out the procedure to be followed if a member has a material interest in a matter being considered. Disclosure must be made as soon as possible, after which the member must not be present during deliberations or take part in any decision on the relevant matter, unless otherwise determined by the governing body. The Acts further stipulate that the member must disclose the material interests of any of their associates, including spouses, children and business partners.<sup>208</sup>
- **5.28** Several staff and student members of the University of New England Council told the Committee that they were routinely denied access to information on grounds of a supposed conflict of interest, thus limiting their ability to properly perform their functions and leading to the development of a 'two-tier inner-outer cabinet ... which did not allow the full council to engage in the matters before council, and that was one of the concerns that had been brought out by the elected members of council'.<sup>209</sup>
- **5.29** Dr Maxine Darnell, President, University of New England Branch of the National Tertiary Education Union, suggested that this exclusion had resulted in 'some decisions, some things being done at council that other members of council were not aware of...'<sup>210</sup>

<sup>210</sup> Dr Darnell, Evidence 17 March 2009, p 12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> See for example University of New England Act 1993, Schedule 2A p 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Dr Maxine Darnell, President, National Tertiary Education Union-University of New England Branch, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 10

- **5.30** Dr Herman Beyersdorf, former member of the University of New England Council, argued that the application of a general conflict of interest based simply on membership of a group, was not the intention of university legislation, particularly as the legislation stipulates that staff, students and other stakeholders are to be members of the governing body.<sup>211</sup>
- **5.31** According to Dr Beyersdorf, 'it is an absurdity to say, for example, that specially elected staff members have a general conflict of interest, because in that case they should not be on council'.<sup>212</sup> He felt that, with regards to conflict of interest, there should be differentiation between 'individual specific things and that overall generality'.<sup>213</sup>
- **5.32** A similar position was held by Ms Catherine Rytmeister, Lecturer in Higher Education Development and PhD student at Macquarie University. She felt that conflict of interests provisions should apply only to specific instances of conflict, rather than any collective interest that a governing body member may have:

Conflict of interest pertains to individual interest rather than the collective interest that a member might have by virtue of membership of the staff or student body. True conflict of interest would apply in only rare cases where an issue under discussion might impact directly and particularly on an individual's personal circumstances (for example, decisions about restructuring and staff redundancies in a staff-elected member's own work area).<sup>214</sup>

**5.33** Ms Hempsall was concerned that there was a lack of 'clear process' for resolving conflict of interest matters and suggested there was 'scope for more clearly defining conflicts of interest in the Act itself'.<sup>215</sup> She suggested the following definition, as provided by the National Institute for Governance, as a possible improvement:

A Council member has a conflict of interest when an interest creates an incentive for the members to act in a way which may not be in the best interests of the University. A conflict of interest may be financial or non-financial, direct or indirect, professional or family related; it may be potential, actual or perceived.<sup>216</sup>

**5.34** It was also suggested that members of the governing body be required to fill in a register of interests similar to the register that parliamentarians are required to complete.<sup>217</sup>

- <sup>213</sup> Dr Beyersdorf, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 21
- <sup>214</sup> Submission 20, Ms Catherine Rytmeister, p 54
- <sup>215</sup> Ms Hempsall, Evidence 17 March 2009, p 4
- <sup>216</sup> University Governance Professional Development National Induction Pack, quoted in Submission 33, Ms Kay Hempsall, p 2
- <sup>217</sup> Mr Dolahenty, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Dr Herman Beyersdorf, former member, University of New England Council, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Dr Beyersdorf, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 21

#### **Committee comment**

- **5.35** The Committee notes that several members of the governing body of the University of New England expressed concern regarding perceived material interests and ensuing exclusion from governing body proceedings.
- **5.36** The Committee believes that the requirements already specified under the university Acts provide sufficient guidelines for the disclosure of material interests. In the absence of further evidence demonstrating that the existing disclosure provisions need to be tightened, the Committee is reluctant to impose further legislative obligations on governing bodies. However, the Committee notes that it is up to each university governing body to ensure that they comply with the requirements of their university Act. The Committee believes that the application of material interest declaration provisions should be investigated, to ensure that these provisions are not being used to exclude individuals from governing body debates on the grounds of the nature of their appointments to that governing body.

#### **Recommendation** 7

That the Minister for Education and Training investigate whether the inappropriate application of material interest declaration provisions is being used to exclude individuals from governing body debates on the grounds of the nature of their appointments to that governing body.

# Power to dismiss a Chancellor

- **5.37** An issue of particular interest to Inquiry participants was whether governing bodies should have a clear provision to enable them to dismiss a Chancellor who has lost the confidence of the governing body. The following section examines current arrangements for dealing with the removal of a Chancellor.
- **5.38** As discussed in Chapter 3, all NSW universities have similar legislative provisions for the removal of a member of governing body. These provisions specify that a member may be removed for a breach of duty as set out in the relevant schedule of the university Act, if the motion for removal is supported 'by at least a two-thirds majority of the total number of Council members'.<sup>218</sup>
- **5.39** There are no distinct provisions for a governing body to remove the Chancellor as Presiding Officer. In his evidence, Mr Alan Cameron, Deputy Chancellor of the University of Sydney, discussed the difficulty faced by governing bodies that have lost confidence in their Chancellor but cannot establish a 'breach of duty' as defined in the university legislation.<sup>219</sup>
- **5.40** The Committee heard that existing mechanisms for dealing with this situation are inadequate. Dr James Swansson, governance and research consultant, National Institute of Governance explained that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> See for example *Charles Sturt University Act 1989* s 24(G)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 1

 $\dots$  when you do have a conflict between a vice chancellor and a chancellor specifically or the governing body in total, the internal mechanisms that that body has for dealing with that conflict obviously are proving insufficient to prevent it becoming a public debate.<sup>220</sup>

- **5.41** Ms Rytmeister explained that 'none of the NSW university enabling Acts, and indeed, few across the nation, provide for removal of a Chancellor who loses the confidence of their Council'.<sup>221</sup> In the absence of such a provision, Ms Rytmeister told the Committee, governing bodies have to choose from the following three options:
  - the 'wait and work around' approach, which involves simply waiting for the Chancellors term to end, either through the Chancellor not seeking another term or the governing body making known it's intentions to appoint a new Chancellor.
  - informal approaches, whereby some governing body members may approach the Chancellor to raise the areas of concern. It is expected that the Chancellor would then either resign or improve their performance.
  - confrontation, which 'involves considerable preparation and would be a last resort, apart from perhaps the even less desirable mechanism of allowing issues to become public knowledge'.<sup>222</sup>
- **5.42** The provisions to remove a governing body member were raised during the Committee's public hearing at the University of New England. Professor Eilis Magner, Chair of the Academic Board at the University of New England, informed the Committee that the current procedure available under the act to remove a governing body member was a major deterrent to seeking to remove the Chancellor.<sup>223</sup> Professor Magner suggested that the university Acts should be changed to insert a condition 'that stipulates that the Chancellor loses office when a vote of no confidence is passed by Council'.<sup>224</sup>
- **5.43** Ms Rytmeiester also felt that a protocol for the removal of a Chancellor should be 'embedded either in university enabling Acts or in by-laws by regulation'.<sup>225</sup>
- **5.44** The National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch supported the position that the university Acts should be amended to require a Chancellor to maintain the confidence of their governing body if they are to serve out their term to its expiry. The Union further added that aVice-Chancellor should be subject to the same requirement.<sup>226</sup>
- **5.45** Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor of the University of Technology Sydney, agreed that it would be useful to have a specific mechanism that could be implemented when aChancellor

- <sup>222</sup> Submission 20, p 42
- <sup>223</sup> Professor Magner, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 45
- <sup>224</sup> Submission 32, p 2
- <sup>225</sup> Submission 20, p 7
- <sup>226</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Dr James Swansson, governance and research consultant, National Institute of Governance, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Submission 20, p 42

had lost the confidence of the governing body.<sup>227</sup> However, when questioned as to whether this mechanism should be contained within either the legislation or codes of conduct for each university, Mr Watkins explained that:

In my view I do not think it should be enshrined in legislation. I think it is important to give universities flexibility within which to operate. I believe that codes of conduct or guidelines in that respect are far better because, clearly, the performance of a university in this area depends on the integrity of an individual, whether it be a single councillor or a chancellor. ... I believe that the legislation should not been so prescriptive that it binds every university to the same practice.<sup>228</sup>

**5.46** In 2001, the University of Sydney amended its By-Laws to allow for the removal of the Chancellor as Chair of the governing body. The By-Law, which applies to the current and all future Chancellors, states that:

It is a condition on which the Chancellor holds office that he or she retains the confidence of the Senate and the Chancellor shall cease to hold office if the Senate decides, by resolution passed at two consecutive ordinary meetings of the Senate, that the Chancellor does not have the confidence of the Senate.<sup>229</sup>

- 5.47 The same provision exists for the removal of a Deputy Chancellor.<sup>230</sup>
- **5.48** An important feature of the University of Sydney By-Law is that it requires that a simple majority of governing body members support the dismissal of the Chancellor. This is in contrast to the existing provisions for the removal of a governing body member, which requires that a two-thirds majority of the governing body approve the dismissal.
- **5.49** The Deputy Chancellor of the University of Sydney, Mr Alan Cameron, noted that requiring the resolution to be passed at two consecutive meetings was an important guard against capriciousness:

The language is quite interesting. It was clearly intended to prevent a coup d'état under which a chancellor could be removed in a heated debate. Both resolutions have to have been passed, not only at consecutive meetings but also at consecutive ordinary meetings. Ordinary meetings of the senate are held six to seven weeks apart. <sup>231</sup>

- **5.50** Mr Cameron also emphasised that the model 'provides protections in both directions; it cannot be done capriciously, quickly or in haste, but it can be done if there is a breakdown in relationships.'<sup>232</sup>
- 5.51 Dr Jessica Milner Davis, the former Deputy Chancellor of the University of New South Wales, reflected on the potential limitations of the current situation which requires a two-
  - <sup>227</sup> Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor, University of Technology, Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 28
  - <sup>228</sup> Mr Watkins, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 33
  - <sup>229</sup> University of Sydney By-Law 1999 s 9(2A)
  - <sup>230</sup> University of Sydney By-Law 1999 s 11(2A)
  - <sup>231</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 1
  - <sup>232</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 1

thirds majority to approve the dismissal of a Chancellor. Dr Milner Davies concurred with the approach taken by the University of Sydney, stating that:

... unless there is a radical change or a proposal regarding the composition of governing bodies, there will always be subgroups; that is to say, there are staff, there are students, there are ex officio positions, there are ministerial appointees ... If you have a diverse group like that imposing a two-thirds majority, it becomes highly politicised. So you could have a single blocking one-third, which I think would disrupt the work of a council ... if it is to be prescribed at all, I think it should be a simple majority ... <sup>233</sup>

**5.52** Ms Rytmeister initially suggested that a no-confidence motion against the Chancellor should require the support of at least a two-thirds majority of governing body members for it to take effect. <sup>234</sup> However, during evidence before the Committee, Ms Rytmeister conceded that

 $\dots$  if you have got to the point at which you have a fifty-fifty split, or just over a majority or just under, in a split, you have a pretty dysfunctional governing body  $\dots$  If you ever reach that point the council would have a problem—whether it is two-thirds or one-third either way, or half and half.<sup>235</sup>

- **5.53** Ms Rytmeiester suggested if such a motion were to be defeated or not have the sufficient majority to be passed, the process should be 'suspended until such time as the Council reactivates it on the grounds of continued poor performance'.<sup>236</sup>
- **5.54** Ms Rytmeister believes that the existence of a dismissal mechanism increases the likelihood that disputes between a chancellor and a governing body will be resolved early, before a situation escalates to a point whereby a Chancellor loses the confidence of the governing body: 'If you have that hard provision at the end that you can get rid of a chancellor if you need to, it means there is much more motivation to resolve the issue before it gets to that point'.<sup>237</sup>
- **5.55** Mr Cameron also emphasised the importance of having a well-constructed dismissal mechanism because it encourages the early resolution of any dispute: 'The mere fact that it is there acts as a safety valve. It does not have to be used'.<sup>238</sup>
- **5.56** The University of New South Wales identified an alternative option to facilitate the dismissal of the Chancellor, advising that their governing body had recently passed a resolution that recommended changes to the way in which governing body members could be removed. This resolution suggested that the University's Act and by-law be amended to give the Minister for Education and Training:

- <sup>235</sup> Ms Catherine Rytmeister, lecturer in Higher Education Development and PhD student, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 14
- <sup>236</sup> Submission 20, p 7
- <sup>237</sup> Ms Rytmeister, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 16
- <sup>238</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Dr Jessica Milner Davis, former Deputy Chancellor of the University of New South Wales, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Submission 20, p 7

... power to remove all or any members of Council at any time and from time to time in his/her discretion provided:-

a. That prior to using that power the Minister has discussed the matter with Council expressing his/her concerns as to the membership of a particular person/persons and seeking a solution to these concerns; and

b. The removal, in the Minister's entire discretion, is for the benefit of the University and its future development.  $^{239}\,$ 

#### **Committee comment**

- **5.57** The Committee notes that with the exception of the University of Sydney, NSW universities is do not currently have a clear and distinct provision for the dismissal of the Chancellor.
- **5.58** The Committee believes that a timely, fair and transparent mechanism to remove a Chancellor who has lost the confidence of their governing body should be available to all NSW universities. Such a mechanism may reduce the likelihood of protracted and damaging disputes between a Chancellor and a governing body. These arguments equally apply to the Deputy-Chancellor, which is also an elected position.
- **5.59** The Committee believes that the procedures established by the University of Sydney provide an appropriate mechanism for the dismissal of the Chancellor and Deputy-Chancellor. We therefore recommend that the Minister for Education and Training insert a provision for the dismissal of a Chancellor and Deputy Chancellor, as set out in the University of Sydney By-Law 1999, into the university Acts.

## **Recommendation 8**

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to allow for the dismissal of a Chancellor or Deputy Chancellor, similar to the provisions contained in the University of Sydney By-Law 1999.

**5.60** The Committee notes the recommendation from the University of New South Wales that the Minister for Education and Training be empowered to remove members of the governing body. The Committee is concerned that this approach does not reflect the view expressed throughout this Inquiry that universities should have the independence to govern their own affairs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Submission 12, University of New South Wales, p 4
## Chapter 6 Professional development, performance evaluation and recruitment

This chapter discusses the professional development and performance evaluation of governing body members. It also looks briefly at the recruitment of the Chancellor of a university governing body.

## Induction and professional development

6.1 Several inquiry participants discussed the importance of professional development programs for the members of university governing bodies and that such programs should focus on technical skills as well as the 'cultural capabilities' of governing body members.

## Importance of induction and professional development

- **6.2** The National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, supports a program of professional development that 'brings together members outside of the governing body's room, and addresses gaps in knowledge that will help increase the quality of the governing body overall'.<sup>240</sup>
- **6.3** Ms Amanda McMormack, Organiser with the National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, told the Committee that it 'is important that people are able to participate on a university governing body in a particular capacity, but they also have the skills to be able to do that effectively'.<sup>241</sup>
- **6.4** Ms Genevieve Kelly, Secretary, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, noted that professional development is important because:

... staff-elected representatives, in my experience, can often be intimidated by some of that company law. They do not know what the fiduciary duties are and what the code of conduct should be and a bit of training around that is very helpful and can give people more confidence to participate.<sup>242</sup>

**6.5** Induction training is particularly important for new members of governing bodies who are from outside the university. According to Mr Mark Dolahenty, Senior Industrial Officer, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch:

And the educative role needed by new members of the council is not just about training those people who may not have what one might call the requisite business skills; it is about educating people from outside the university about the university, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Ms Amanda McCormack, Organiser, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 34

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Ms Genevieve Kelly, Secretary, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 30

role of the university and where the council fits within the culture, the life and the history of universities as a whole. $^{243}$ 

**6.6** Reverend Judith Redman, a former member of the University of New England Council, explained that long-term professional development was needed as well as induction training:

I think training certainly helps and I think that regularly reminding people about their role also helps. I think when you first join our board there is an awful lot of stuff to take in and you are on a very steep learning curve ... So I would see that ongoing training would definitely have a role as well as the original induction stuff.<sup>244</sup>

6.7 Professional development is also a key tool in improving poor performance, as Ms Catherine Rytmeister, Lecturer in Higher Education Development and a candidate for a doctor of philosophy at Macquarie University, explained:

Targeted preparation, induction, professional development and mentoring programs are appropriate ways to address under-performance resulting from a lack of confidence, knowledge and/or experience.<sup>245</sup>

## Current professional development practice

**6.8** The provision of professional development to members of a governing body was required by Protocol Four of the National Governance Protocols:

Each governing body must make available a programme of induction and professional development for members to build the expertise of the governing body and to ensure that all members are aware of the nature of their duties and responsibilities. At regular intervals the governing body must assess both its performance and its conformance with these Protocols and identify needed skills and expertise for the future.<sup>246</sup>

- **6.9** The university Acts were amended to reflect this Protocol and now include a requirement for professional development. For example, the *University of New England Act 1993* requires the University 'to make available for members of the Council a program of induction and of development relevant to their role as such a member'.<sup>247</sup>
- 6.10 Based on her research, Ms Rytmeister advised the Committee that:

A range of professional development experiences are made available to members, including seminars, workshops, forums and conferences. Not all members attend, although most try to attend at least some professional development sessions.<sup>248</sup>

- Reverend Judith Redman, former member of the University of New England Council, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 30
- <sup>245</sup> Submission 20, Ms Catherine Rytmeister, p 5
- <sup>246</sup> Submission 9, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Appendix A
- <sup>247</sup> University of New England Act 1993 s 16 (1B)(l)
- <sup>248</sup> Submission 20, p 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Mr Mark Dolahenty, Senior Industrial Officer, National Tertiary Education Union-NSW Branch Evidence, 26 February, p 30

**6.11** Professor Frederick Hilmer, Vice-Chancellor of the University of New South Wales, described the induction training at the University:

Training is very import. We put all our council members through the Institute of Directors course. If you are an experienced director you might choose not to attend, but everyone is entitled to do that course. New members who are not from a business background do that course. We also have an induction session for new members and we spend a lot of time talking about roles, the Fireman's case and the role of council ... <sup>249</sup>

6.12 The University of Sydney also inducts its new members. The University requires:

 $\dots$  all new Fellows to participate in an induction program to help ensure that they understand and are equipped to discharge the obligations of their role. This process includes the appointment of an experienced Fellow to act as a mentor to all new Fellows.<sup>250</sup>

## Improving induction and professional development

- **6.13** A number of inquiry participants argued that current professional development programs need to be strengthened. For example, Ms Rytmeister noted from her research that 'professional development and induction events and sessions vary in quality and appropriateness'.<sup>251</sup> She explained that one of the reasons there were 'mixed views of the professional development programs' was that 'many programs make assumptions that simply do not apply in the university setting...<sup>252</sup>
- **6.14** Mr John Phillips, Chancellor of the University of Western Sydney, highlighted that, while the eduction of new governing body members had improved, it 'has a fair way to go'.<sup>253</sup>
- 6.15 According to Ms Rytmeister professional development programs need to develop members' technical skills and expertise, as well as their 'cultural capabilities':

... only a few developmental programs for Council members explicitly tackle the issue of the Council as a social system and the elements of effective Council culture, and even fewer offer a program tailored to the cultural value and unique character of universities as organisations and institutions.<sup>254</sup>

**6.16** Professor Eilis Magner, Chair of the Academic Board at the University of New England, also believed that professional development should be tailored:

- <sup>250</sup> Submission 7, University of Sydney, p 7
- <sup>251</sup> Submission 20, p 5
- <sup>252</sup> Submission 20, p 63
- <sup>253</sup> Mr John Phillips, Chancellor, University of Western Sydney, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 2
- <sup>254</sup> Submission 20, p 63

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Professor Frederick Hilmer, Vice-Chancellor, University of New South Wales, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 20

...at least we do corporate training but its focus tends to be outside the council procedures, to the council's legal responsibilities and what council is required to do – which is not the stuff we should start getting right.<sup>255</sup>

6.17 The Committee heard that current programs do not fully cater for the needs of student representatives. Mr Noah White, President of the Student Representative Council, University of Sydney, said:

Universities do not offer any significant training for students at all really. The University of Sydney does offer some training for students. However, it is not geared specifically towards student representation, which is quite different from, say, someone who is a graduate or staff representative. I think that is one area where universities in New South Wales could greatly improve, and I would like to see some incentive for universities to develop and provide strong training programs for student representatives so that they can represent students effectively.<sup>256</sup>

**6.18** The significance of ongoing training was stressed by Ms Kay Hempsall, member of the University of New England Council and Manager, Organisational Development:

... in order to continue to improve what you are doing you need to undertake ongoing training and development. I think that is probably a significant thing that we should be participating in ... I think that is particularly true for council because we have to be abreast of everything that is happening more broadly and also to provide the best leadership that we can.<sup>257</sup>

**6.19** The National Tertiary Education Union-Branch argued that 'training should involve a high quality and relevant induction programme for new members, and, more broadly, all members should receive training in how to access and interpret institutional data/information, particularly financial information'.<sup>258</sup> The Union recommended that:

Each NSW University governing body should have in place a formal programme of professional development that goes beyond ensuring that members are aware of the nature of their duties and responsibilities and codes of conduct. Types of training should include: accessing institutional data and information, how to read financial reports, risk management processes, and reviewing and monitoring processes.<sup>259</sup>

**6.20** In particular, Mr White said that students should be trained on how to consult with their constituencies in order to effectively represent their views:

... being the student representative is not necessarily about going out there and projecting your own views; it is about making sure that the views of the majority of students are projected. That is not something that is particularly easy to do if you are

- <sup>255</sup> Professor Eilis Magner, Chair, Academic Board, University of New England Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 47
- <sup>256</sup> Mr Noah White, President, Student Representative Council, University of Sydney, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 44
- <sup>257</sup> Ms Kay Hempsall, member of the University of New England Council, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 7
- <sup>258</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union, p 7
- <sup>259</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union, p 7

not in tune with the rest of the student cohort, so there has to be some training about how you go about that.  $^{260}$ 

**6.21** Commenting on whether training should be made compulsory, Mr Phillips said: 'I personally would not favour making it compulsory, I am more in favour of making the thing available.'<sup>261</sup>

## Training for Chancellors

**6.22** Inquiry participants expressed differing views concerning professional development for Chancellors. Mr Phillips argued that Chancellors need more training and development opportunities:

 $\dots$  I do not think we have done enough to educate – and I think some of my colleagues will be a bit upset about me using that word – incoming chancellors, because many of those are coming from areas where they have not been subject to the same kind of protocols and procedures that they ought to be following within universities.<sup>262</sup>

6.23 Mr Phillips further advised the Committee that:

There has been an attempt by the Institute for Company Directors to do some work on this. If people choose to do the Institute of Company Directors' course, particularly the chairman's course, they will be in a better position coming into the university. It does not do it quite well enough yet. It may be that the Chancellors' Council could do something about it, it would be the only other body that I can think of at the moment.<sup>263</sup>

**6.24** Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor of the University of Technology, Sydney, supported an induction program for Chancellors:

Dare I say, the Chancellor should go through an induction process, albeit a different process. It is critically important in a university to have a handover period between two chancellors. It is the culture that is being challenged very much as you hand over these things.<sup>264</sup>

**6.25** Professor Hilmer argued that a Chancellor should not be appointed if they needed training in how to chair a significant body:

I really think we should not appoint a chancellor who needs training. It is like becoming a chairman of a public company with a big board. You do not do that until you have served your apprenticeship either in a deputy chairman role or as a chairman of a smaller board. To take a major university and say, "I have never chaired anything in my life, I have never really been a board member, I don't understand governance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Mr White, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence 26 February 2009, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence 26 February 2009, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor of the University of Technology, Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 35

but you're going to train me and I am the leader" – you do not send a rookie out on the field and say, "I'll train you as you're batting." $^{265}$ 

## Committee comment

- **6.26** Inquiry participants welcomed the opportunity to engage in induction and professional development programs to assist them to perform their governance duties. Evidence to the Committee however, indicated that such programs vary in quality, duration and appropriateness across universities. The Committee heard that professional development needs to be tailored to the specific requirements of governing body members, both internal and external, and should be offered over the course of a member's term. We were also told that a program of professional development should strive to improve the 'cultural capabilities' of members as well as their technical skills. In addition, there was evidence that governing body members would benefit from training on how to access institutional data.
- **6.27** The National Tertiary Education Union-Branch argued that 'training should involve a high quality and relevant induction programme for new members, and, more broadly, all members should receive training in how to access and interpret institutional data/information, particularly financial information'.<sup>266</sup> The Union recommended that:
- **6.28** Each NSW University governing body should have in place a formal programme of professional development that goes beyond ensuring that members are aware of the nature of their duties and responsibilities and codes of conduct. Types of training should include: accessing institutional data and information, how to read financial reports, risk management processes, and reviewing and monitoring processes.<sup>267</sup>
- **6.29** While respecting the need for universities to determine the nature and content of their own professional development programs, the Committee supports a greater emphasis on training and development across the sector. The Committee notes that the Commonwealth Government has announced the development of a voluntary code of best governance practice to replace the National Governance Protocols.<sup>268</sup> The Ministerial Council on Education, Employment, Training and Youth Affairs has agreed to progress the development of this code. The Joint Committee on Higher Education, which comprises officials from the Commonwealth, States and Territories, advises the Ministerial Council on higher education matters, and will facilitate the consultation regarding the code. The Committee believes that the Minister for Education and Training should ensure that the professional development of members of university governing bodies is accorded a high priority during this consultation.

<sup>268</sup> Submission 9, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union, p 7

## **Recommendation 9**

That the Minister for Education and Training ensure that in the forthcoming consultation regarding the development of a voluntary code of best governance practice, the professional development of governing bodies is accorded high priority.

**6.30** Notwithstanding the development of a code of best governance practice, the Committee considers the Minister should conduct a review of professional development practices in NSW universities, with a view to encouraging best practice approaches to professional development. The review should seek to encourage induction training and professional development programs that are tailored to individual members' needs, focused on developing members' cultural capability, provided on an ongoing basis, and designed to ensure access to institutional data.

## **Recommendation 10**

That the Minister for Education and Training conduct a review of university induction and professional development programs in NSW universities, with a view to encouraging best practice approaches to professional development.

This review should be mindful of the issues raised in this Inquiry regarding professional development, including that such programs should be:

- tailored to meet the diverse needs of governing body members
- focused on developing the cultural capability of governing body members as well as their technical skills
- provided throughout governing body members' terms of office
- designed to ensure access to institutional data.

That the findings of the review be published no later than December 2009.

## Performance evaluation

**6.31** Performance evaluation is necessary to determine if a governing body is operating efficiently and effectively, and to identify areas for improvement.

### Current performance evaluation of the governing body

6.32 As noted previously, Protocol Four of the National Governance Protocols required that 'at regular intervals the governing body must assess both its performance and its conformance with these Protocols and identify needed skills and expertise for the future'. This requirement has been reflected in the university Acts. For example, the University of New England Act 1993

requires the University 'to regularly review its own performance (in light of its functions and obligations imposed by or under this or any other Act)'.<sup>269</sup>

- **6.33** There is currently no statutory obligation to review the individual performance of the Chancellor, nor individual governing body members. The legislation is also silent on how and when the performance reviews are to take place.
- **6.34** Commenting on the requirement for performance of the governing body to be reviewed, Mr Phillips advised that this does not extend to a review of the Chancellor's performance:

There is a requirement in the protocols for assessment of the performance of the board. When that was written it was assumed it would include the chancellor, but in many cases it does not.<sup>270</sup>

**6.35** Several universities discussed their current performance evaluation practices during evidence and in submissions. The University of Sydney, for example, evaluates the performance of the governing body, not the performance of individual Fellows.<sup>271</sup> Mr Alan Cameron, Deputy Chancellor at the University of Sydney, explained that:

... it is not a review of individual fellows' performance, but of whether the senate is performing its role properly and whether people are satisfied with the information they are getting, the decision-making processes and so on. That includes a loose review of the role of the Chancellor rather than a specific review. It is a review of the chancellor in the same way as it is a review of us all.<sup>272</sup>

- **6.36** The University of Sydney advised that it has commissioned four external reviews of the Senate's performance since 2006. These reviews have '...involved personal interviews with individual Fellows of Senate and members of senior management'.<sup>273</sup> Mr Cameron said that the University is in the process of identifying an external consultant to conduct a review this year, who would be 'a professional in the field'.<sup>274</sup>
- **6.37** In regard to individual performance evaluation, the University of Sydney said that the 'Senate has not resolved to create any formal protocols for addressing poor performance on the part of Chancellor or Fellows',<sup>275</sup> although it is '... open to the Chancellor to speak to individual Fellows regarding their performance should he or she believe there is a need to do so.'<sup>276</sup>
- **6.38** The University of Technology, Sydney has introduced a regular system of internal and external reviews for its governing body:

- <sup>271</sup> Mr Alan Cameron, Deputy Chancellor, University of Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 2
- <sup>272</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 2
- <sup>273</sup> Submission 7, p 6
- <sup>274</sup> Mr Cameron, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 2
- <sup>275</sup> Submission 7, p 7
- <sup>276</sup> Submission 7, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> See for example University of New England Act 1993 s 16 (1B)(j)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 6

Evaluation of Council's own effectiveness is clearly accepted by all Council members. UTS has recently reviewed its system of Council evaluations and has committed to a rotating cycle of 2-yearly self-evaluation surveys and governance audits; supplemented by a commissioned external review on a 4-yearly basis. Evaluation of the performance of members is essential to building an effective Council.<sup>277</sup>

- **6.39** Mr Phillips advised that at the University of Western Sydney, the governing body undertook a self-review review of its performance every two years, which includes the performance of the Chancellor.<sup>278</sup> The self-review could be done through questionnaires, inviting comment, and debate at meetings.
- **6.40** Professor Hilmer said that the University of New South Wales arranges an external review from time to time 'on the effectiveness of the council'.<sup>279</sup>
- **6.41** At the University of New England, Professor Magner noted that the governing body reviews its own performance annually.<sup>280</sup> Professor Magner said of the review:

... we look at the policies we have examined, we look at the terms of reference of council and we look at attendances at meetings. The attendance record is brought up there, but there is not an opportunity there for performance review of the individual or what the individual has contributed.<sup>281</sup>

## Improving performance evaluation

6.42 The National Institute of Governance advised that there already exists 'a comprehensive literature and practice of performance reviews of governing bodies...' and, with regard to improved performance, posed the question:

 $\dots$  what are the universities doing by way of performance evaluation, and to whom are the results being reported, and does that reflect a culture of continuous improvement?<sup>282</sup>

- 6.43 A number of participants suggested ways to improve performance evaluation. Of particular interest was whether the Chancellor should be subject to a specific review of his or her performance.
- 6.44 As noted previously, the University of Sydney does not specifically review the Chancellor's performance. The rationale for this was articulated by Dr Michael Spence, Vice-Chancellor of the University of Sydney:

... the role of the Chancellor is to facilitate the work of the Senate. Being Chancellor is not a job in the sense that it has tasks and key performance indicators and all the

- <sup>278</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 6
- <sup>279</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 25
- <sup>280</sup> Submission 32, Professor Eilis Magner, p 1
- <sup>281</sup> Professor Magner, Evidence, 17 March 2009, pp 40-41
- <sup>282</sup> Submission 13, National Institute of Governance, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> Submission 8, University of Technology Sydney, p 4

rest of it ... To think about the effectiveness of the chancellor's work in that context is the right approach.  $^{\rm 283}$ 

6.45 A number of other inquiry participants, however, supported a specific review of the Chancellor's performance. For example, in response to a question on how the Chancellor's performance was evaluated, Mr Phillips responded: 'Not enough, is the answer at the moment.'<sup>284</sup> Mr Phillips went on to describe two barriers that may hamper such performance evaluation taking place:

I accept that it is very difficult to do the review of the chancellor, for two reasons: First, many chancellors do not like it being done, because it can bring out some things you do not like to hear. Secondly, people are often not willing to stand up and say what they really think. So, you have to get at it in some indirect ways as well, often when doing a review of the performance of the board, the conduct of board meetings and the conduct of committee meetings, and the like. In that process you will get back comments which, while they relate to the performance of the committee of the board, indirectly tended to tell you something about the performance of the chairman of the board or the chairman of committees.<sup>285</sup>

- 6.46 The National Tertiary Education Union supported performance review of the Chancellor.<sup>286</sup>
- **6.47** Professor Alan Pettigrew, Vice-Chancellor of the University of New England, observed that 'should Council decide, a set of qualitative and quantitative indicators can be constructed against which the performance of the Chancellor can be measured'.<sup>287</sup> He noted that:

... Council as a whole should determine how it responds to the assessment of the Chancellor's performance. Such a response may be a statement of support or congratulation. Equally, the Chancellor might be counselled by Council members.<sup>288</sup>

- **6.48** Associate Professor Jeanne Madison, University of New England, identified 'attendance, participation, preparation, knowledge' and involvement in committees as indicators that might assist in assessing the performance of members of the governing body.<sup>289</sup>
- 6.49 Another issue to arise was whether the performance of individual members of the governing body, other than the Chancellor, should be reviewed. Ms Rytmeister recommended that:

University enabling Acts should include, as one of the duties and responsibilities of the Chancellor, a regular developmental review of individual members' contributions and performance. These should take a form determined by Council, or a committee thereof. The process undertaken and any outcomes relating to the effective fulfilment

- <sup>285</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 6
- <sup>286</sup> Submission 23, p 6
- <sup>287</sup> Submission 14, University of New England, p 11
- <sup>288</sup> Submission 14, p 11
- <sup>289</sup> Professor Jeanne Madison, Associate Professor, University of New England, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 35

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Dr Michael Spence, Vice-Chancellor, University of Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 6

of the Council's and members' roles should be reported on and included in the university's annual report.  $^{\rm 290}$ 

- **6.50** However, Ms Rytmeister observed that 'review of individual performance is problematic because of the voluntary nature of governing body membership'.<sup>291</sup> In addition, as with the performance of the Chancellor, 'there are few sanctions to provide leverage in addressing poor performance...' of members.<sup>292</sup>
- **6.51** In 2007 the University Chancellors' Council and Universities Australia proposed an amendment to the National Governance Protocols to include a requirement for performance review, including members, as follows:

On a regular basis, at least once each two years, the governing body shall assess its performance, the performance of its members and the performance of Committees of the governing body. The Chancellor shall have responsibility for organising the assessment process, drawing on external processes if necessary. On an annual basis, the governing body shall also review its conformance with these Protocols and identify needed skills and expertise for the future. <sup>293</sup>

- 6.52 They did not favour, however, reporting the outcomes of these reviews.<sup>294</sup>
- **6.53** The National Tertiary Education Union did not support performance review for individual members, other than the Chancellor, arguing that a collective review of the governing body provides sufficient feedback for members on their performance.<sup>295</sup>

## Committee comment

- **6.54** Performance evaluation is crucial to the effectiveness of a governing body. Based on the evidence to the Committee, it appears that performance evaluation practices vary significantly across universities, in terms of the regularity of performance reviews, and also, whether a governing body's performance is reviewed by the governing body itself or by an external consultant.
- 6.55 As with professional development, the Committee supports a greater focus on performance evaluation across the sector. The Committee believes that the NSW Minister for Education and Training should ensure that performance evaluation of university governing bodies is accorded a high priority in consultation regarding the development of a voluntary code of best governance practice.

- <sup>292</sup> Submission 20, p 5
- <sup>293</sup> Submission 2, New South Wales Vice-Chancellors' Committee, Attachment p 5 (Joint Submission from Chancellors and Vice-Chancellors to the 2007 Review of the National Governance Protocols)
- <sup>294</sup> Submission 2, Attachment p 7
- <sup>295</sup> Submission 23, p 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Submission 20, p 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Submission 20, p 5

#### **Recommendation 11**

That the Minister for Education and Training ensure that in the forthcoming consultation regarding the development of a voluntary code of best governance practice, the performance evaluation practices of governing bodies is accorded a high priority.

**6.56** In addition to development of the code of best governance practice, the Committee believes it is important to get a clearer picture of performance evaluation. To this end, the Committee recommends that the NSW Minister for Education and Training review the performance evaluation practices of university governing bodies, taking into consideration the issues raised in this Inquiry regarding performance evaluation. These issues include conducting performance evaluation at regular intervals, requiring external evaluation as well as self-reviews, and openness and transparency. As part of the review, the Minister should examine whether individual members of a governing body, including the Chancellor, should be subject to performance evaluation.

### **Recommendation 12**

That the Minister for Education and Training conduct a review of the performance evaluation practices of university governing bodies. This review should be mindful of the issues raised in this Inquiry regarding performance evaluation, including that such programs should be:

- conducted at regular intervals
- involve both self-reviews and external reviews
- conducted openly and transparently, and provide for public reporting of outcomes.

Further, that the Minister investigate whether individual members of a governing body, including the Chancellor, should be subject to regular performance evaluation.

That the findings of the review be published no later than December 2009.

## **Recruitment of a Chancellor**

**6.57** The Chancellor is a key position within a university, and is central to the effective functioning of the governing body. It is therefore critical to recruit the right person for this position. According to Ms Rytmeister, cultural capabilities and interpersonal skills are as important as technical skills in a university Chancellor:

The Chancellor's role is viewed as highly important in managing the Council and creating and maintaining an effective governance culture. Together with the relatively unusual but by no means rare public airing of boundary and relationship problems between Chancellors and Councils and /or Vice Chancellors, this provides good reason for Councils to take extra care when selecting a Chancellor, to ensure that an appropriate appointment is made....Given the central importance of the Chancellor-VC relationship to the effective functioning of the Council, the VC needs to be confident that he or she can form and maintain a mutually respectful and productive

relationship with the Chancellor. Each, therefore, should be involved in the appointment of the other.  $^{\rm 296}$ 

- 6.58 In order to maximise the likelihood of recruiting an effective Chancellor, Ms Rytmeister recommended that the following principles be applied to any changes to legislation, regulations or protocols concerning the appointment of a Chancellor:
  - The appointment of a chancellor is a strategic decision, requiring broad consideration by council and refinement by a small, high quality selection committee
  - Selection criteria for a Chancellor should include a broad range of individual attributes, including cultural/social attributes
  - The selection committee should include at least one internal and two external Council members and the Vice Chancellor.
  - Opportunistic or 'political' appointment should be avoided unless there is an overriding strategic justification for this.<sup>297</sup>

## Committee comment

- **6.59** The appointment of the Chancellor is now a key strategic decision for a university governing body. A Chancellor must have not only the requisite technical skills and experience, but also the 'cultural capability' needed to operate effectively within the university environment, bearing in mind the university's core values and culture. A university Chancellor requires excellent interpersonal skills, if they are to build a constructive relationship with their Vice Chancellor and to lead a cohesive governing body.
- **6.60** Universities therefore need to give thoughtful consideration to their recruitment processes, first to ensure that there is a clear understanding of the skills, experience and 'cultural capability' required by a Chancellor, and second, to ensure that their processes are carefully crafted to select the most appropriate person for this unique position.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> Submission 20, pp 23-24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> Submission 20, p 66

## Chapter 7 The clarity of governance roles

This chapter discusses inquiry participants' understanding of the roles and duties of a university governing body, Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor, and whether there is a need to further clarify these roles. The chapter also examines the importance of a healthy governance culture in encouraging the members of a governing body to work effectively within the roles that have been assigned to them by university enabling Acts, by laws, resolutions and rules.

## Good governance and role clarity

7.1 The inquiry terms of reference required the Committee to look at whether there is a lack of clarity regarding the roles of a university governing body, Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor and the delineation of duties between these roles. According to the United Kingdom's Independent Commission on Good Governance in Public Services, role clarity is an essential component of good governance:

Good governance requires all concerned to be clear about the functions of governance and their own roles and responsibilities and those of others, and to behave in ways that are consistent with those roles. <sup>298</sup>

## Governance roles and functions

- **7.2** The roles of a university governing body, Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor are set out in the university Acts and by-laws. In addition, several universities have adopted specific resolutions or rules to further define the functions or duties of these positions.
- **7.3** For example, the University of Sydney Senate passed a governance resolution in 2001 which sought to clarify governance roles.<sup>299</sup> The University of Technology, Sydney adopted a Role Statement for the Chancellor, by way of Council Resolution in 2004.<sup>300</sup> As a consequence of events in 2007 and 2008 the University of New England Council developed several governance policies intended to clarify governance roles,<sup>301</sup> and in 2006 the University of New South Wales Council amended its governance roles via a comprehensive external review of Council's delegations to management.<sup>302</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> Independent Commission on Good Governance in Public Services, The Good Governance Standard for Public Services, Office for Public Management and The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 2004, p 9 (attached to submission 4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> Submission 7, University of Sydney, Attachment D, p 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> Submission 8, University of Technology, Sydney, p 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> Submission 14, University of New England, p 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Submission 12, University of New South Wales, p 5

## The role of a university governing body

- 7.4 There was considerable consensus among inquiry participants that the role of a governing body is to be the governing authority for a university and that its focus should be on strategic rather than operational matters.
- **7.5** Dr Rudi Lidl, Audit Director, Australian Universities Quality Association, stated that 'the governing body provides the broad direction to the institution to achieve strategic direction...<sup>303</sup> Professor Vicki Sara, Chancellor of the University of Technology Sydney, noted that the University's enabling act makes it very clear that the Council has the overall control and management of the affairs of the University.<sup>304</sup> Further to this:

Council has summarised its function as being "to review, advise, approve and propose policy and strategy in pursuit of UTS's goals and to raise matters of general University concern".<sup>305</sup>

- **7.6** Several participants emphasised that the proper focus of a university governing body was on broad strategic issues, rather than operational matters. For example, Mr John Phillips, Chancellor of the University of Western Sydney, told the Committee that it was appropriate for a governing body to set policies and guidelines within which the executive can operate, but not to manage how these policies are implemented.<sup>306</sup>
- 7.7 Dr Tim Battin, senior lecturer in the School of Humanities, University of New England (UNE) expressed a similar view, observing that the proper role of a governing body is 'to steer a university in the broadest terms' but this should not entail involving itself in operational or day-to-day management matters.<sup>307</sup>

## The role of a Chancellor

- **7.8** Inquiry participants generally agreed that the role of a contemporary Chancellor includes both ceremonial and leadership responsibilities.
- **7.9** Professor Frederick Hilmer, the Vice-Chancellor of the University of NSW (UNSW) believes that the role of a Chancellor goes beyond the ceremonial duties traditionally associated with this position:

... it is more than a ceremonial role. Its role is to preside over the governing body ... to make sure it is well constituted, making sure it has the proper agenda, making sure

- <sup>305</sup> Submission 8, p 2
- <sup>306</sup> Mr John Phillips, Chancellor, University of Western Sydney, Evidence 26 February 2009, p 3
- <sup>307</sup> Submission 22, Dr Tim Battin, p 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Dr Rudi Lidl, Audit Director, Australian Universities Quality Agency, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> Submission 8, p 2

that the papers that come to it get fully disclosed ... making sure that the compliance work of the council is done properly.'  $^{308}$ 

- **7.10** The role of the 'modern' Australian Chancellor, according to most participants, is parallel to that of the Chairman of the Board. As Mr Phillips explained 'being chairman of the council or the board of the senate is almost exactly the same as being the chairman of a major Australian company'.<sup>309</sup>
- 7.11 The University of Sydney Senate also compared the role of Chancellor with that of a corporate Chair, suggesting that the statutory requirement that the Chancellor preside at all meetings of the governing body at which they are present infers that the Chancellor should exhibit the attributes of a Chairman of the Board.<sup>310</sup>
- **7.12** While acknowledging the analogies between the positions, a number of inquiry participants expressed discomfort with equating the role of the Chancellor with that of a corporate board chair. Dr Robin Fitzsimons, a fellow of the University of Sydney Senate, noted that while some universities have adopted a more 'corporate' look in selecting their Chancellors:

... a Chancellor is <u>not</u> simply the Chair of a Board. ... In the case of the University of Sydney ... We have chosen to choose our Chancellor with a strongest (unwritten) emphasis on that person being someone who will embody all that is best about the university and who will reflect these characteristics to the outside world ... <sup>311</sup>

- **7.13** There was a strongly held view among inquiry participants that a Chancellor *should not* exercise executive functions. The National Tertiary Education Union (NTEU) observed that it is not the Chancellor's role 'to intervene in the day to day management of the university'. <sup>312</sup>
- 7.14 In her evidence, Professor Eilis Magner, Chair of Academic Board at the University of New England explained that:

The chair does not have executive power and should not have executive power. Some corporations have the chair also being the chief executive officer—that is not the case at any university that I am aware of. So the Chancellor's role is chair of the university council ... It is necessary for the Vice-Chancellor to have somebody to discuss the matters concerning the university with on a basis of absolute candour. That is the role of the Chancellor but again it is not a role that carries executive power.<sup>313</sup>

7.15 According to Ms Rytmeister, governing body members expect that in dealing with concerns about the performance of a Vice-Chancellor, a Chancellor should still respect the management/executive divide:

<sup>313</sup> Professor Eilis Magner, Chair of the Academic Board, University of New England, Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> Professor Frederick Hilmer, Vice-Chancellor, University of New South Wales, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> Submission 7, p 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> Submission 21, Dr Robin Fitzsimons, p 4 (emphasis in the original)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> Submission 23, National Tertiary Education Union (NSW Branch), p 6

While members see the VC as the institutional leader and Chief Executive Officer, there is an expectation that the Chancellor will act to deal with a VCs poor performance or impropriety; on the other hand, members are very sensitive to any attempts by the Chancellor to intrude on the management domain and are highly critical of this behaviour.<sup>314</sup>

## The role of a Vice-Chancellor

- **7.16** There was also considerable consensus among inquiry participants regarding the role of the Vice-Chancellor, who is referred to as either the as the chief executive officer (CEO) or principal principal executive officer in the university Acts.
- 7.17 Professor Sara advised that under the University of Technology, Sydney Act and by laws:

... the Vice Chancellor is the chief executive office (CEO) responsible to the Council for implementing the decisions of the Council, promoting the interests and furthering the development of the University and conducting the 'business' of the University.<sup>315</sup>

- **7.18** Ms Catherine Rytmeister interviewed 36 university governing body members from seven Australian universities for her doctorate on University Governance. Ms Rytmeister reported that the interviewees generally understood the role of the Vice-Chancellor as being 'the institutional leader and Chief Executive Officer' responsible for the management domain.<sup>316</sup>
- 7.19 While acknowledging that the role of Vice-Chancellor resembles that of the chair of a company board, Dr Robin Fitzsimons, a member of the University of Sydney Senate, felt that it would be better not to use the term, given the differences between a corporation and a university. Dr Fitzsimons prefers the term 'principal executive officer' used by the University of Sydney Senate:

Although I recognize that the position of Vice-Chancellor has many analogies with that of a company 'Chief Executive Officer' the designation CEO is not one ever heard at the University of Sydney (and I suspect many other universities). I think it would be better not to adopt this term for what are after all very different sorts of organizations.<sup>317</sup>

### The relationship between a governing body, Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor

**7.20** Inquiry participants generally agreed that the quality of relationships between the members of the governing body, particularly between the Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor, is a critical component of effective university governance. This view was expressed by Ms Rytmeister:

The behaviours of the Chancellor and Vice Chancellor, and the relationship between them, are key determinants of Council culture and effectiveness. They are highly

- <sup>316</sup> Submission 20, Ms Catherine Rytmeister, p 13. The interviews were conducted in 2004-2006.
- <sup>317</sup> Submission 21, p 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> Submission 20, p 13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> Submission 8, p3

influential in building collective and individual understanding of the nature of the governance-management boundary.  $^{318}\,$ 

7.21 The Australian Institute of Company Directors expressed similar sentiments in its submission:

...the relationship between the chair (Chancellor) and the chief executive officer (Vice Chancellor) is critical to the organisation's success. It should be based on them affording one another mutual respect and understanding the boundaries of their respective roles.<sup>319</sup>

**7.22** Being clear about the respective roles of the chair and chief executive of a governing body is a particularly important aspect of effective governance under the UK Governance Standard for Public Services:

The Chair and chief executive share in the leadership role. The chair's role is to lead the governing body, ensuring it makes an effective contribution to the governance of the organisation; and the chief executive's is to lead the organisation in implementing strategy and managing the delivery of services. A good working relation between the two can make a significant contribution to effective governance.<sup>320</sup>

**7.23** Several inquiry participants believe that the failure to respect the boundaries between the role of Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor was largely responsible for the difficulties experienced within the UNE council in 2007 and 2008. According to Professor Magner:

There has been evident a misunderstanding about the delineation of duties of the Chancellor and the governing body ... It is clear from many sources ... that the Chancellor is commonly understood as one that carries no executive power. This was not the understanding of the former Chancellor ... <sup>321</sup>

**7.24** The NSW Branch of the NTEU also noted that boundary issues have lead to conflict in at least one NSW university:

Conflict has occurred within at least one NSW university about what is meant by the Vice-Chancellor being the "chief/principal executive officer." <sup>322</sup>

**7.25** In his evidence to the Committee, Mr John Cassidy, the former Chancellor at the University of New England told the Committee that the law was clear with regard to the respective roles of the Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor:

...the Chancellor is the principal officer of the university and the Vice-Chancellor is the chief operating officer responsible for the day-to-day activities ... if the person is

<sup>322</sup> Submission 23, p 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> Submission 20, p 13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> Submission 18, Australian Institute of Company Directors, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> Independent Commission on Good Governance in Public Services, The Good Governance Standard for Public Services, Office for Public Management and The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 2004, pp 10-11 (attached to submission 4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> Submission 32, Professor Eilis Magner, p 1

not fit for that role, then there should be some mechanism to move on, whether it be the Chancellor, or the Vice Chancellor or any other member of the council.<sup>323</sup>

## Committee comment

- **7.26** There is considerable consensus among inquiry participants regarding the role and duties of the key actors within a university governing body. Where this may not have been the case, individual institutions have acted to clarify roles by introducing or amending their own resolutions or rules.
- 7.27 The definitions in the university Acts are clear that the roles of the Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor are distinct and not overlapping. The Committee notes that the language in the university Acts is clear that the Chancellor is the presiding member of the university governing body.

## Is there a need to further clarify university governance roles?

- **7.28** A small number of participants, particularly those from the University of New England, felt that the university Acts and/or by laws needed to be amended to address a lack of clarity regarding the roles of the Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor.
- **7.29** Dr Beyersdorf, a staff representative on the University of New England Council, told the Committee that even though the Council adopted a policy in 2006 to define governance roles, these matters need to be defined more clearly in the university legislation or standing orders.<sup>324</sup>
- **7.30** Associate Professor Madison from the University of New England asserted that, 'it is essential to define explicitly and differentiate between the roles, duties and responsibilities of both a Chancellor, a Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive Officer'.<sup>325</sup>
- **7.31** Mr John Cassidy, former Chancellor of the University of New England, stated that while the law was clear as to the respective roles of the Chancellor and Vice Chancellor, there was some misunderstanding of these roles 'out there' and therefore the roles 'probably' needed to be 'clarified or restated or re-enacted.'<sup>326</sup>
- 7.32 A larger proportion of participants did not support further clarification of university governance roles in the enabling Acts, for various reasons set out in the remainder of this chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> Mr John Cassidy, former Chancellor, University of New England, Evidence, 3 April 2009, p 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> Submission 28, Dr Herman Beyersdorf, p 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> Submission 29, Associate Professor Jeanne Madison, p 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> Mr Cassidy, Evidence, 3 April 2009, p 10

## Opposition to further clarification of governance roles

**7.33** In its joint submission to the 2007 Review of the National Governance Protocols, the University Chancellor's Council and Universities Australia, argued against the need to further clarify governance roles:

The overwhelming consensus is that existing protocols adequately deal with the role, responsibilities and activities of governing bodies and the duties and obligations of individual members. The legislation establishing the various universities also contributes to this adequacy. A more detailed prescriptive approach could be counterproductive, militating against the object of diversity and adding unnecessarily to compliance/reporting costs.<sup>327</sup>

- **7.34** Referring to the above submission, the New South Wales Vice-Chancellors' Committee told the Committee that as this submission was made recently, 'the NSWVCC considered that the issues had already been dealt with carefully and comprehensively, and that the statements made in the Joint Submission do not warrant being revisited at this stage.<sup>328</sup>
- 7.35 A similar view was expressed by the University of Sydney Senate:

It is the University's view that in combination the provisions of the Act, By-Law and Senate's governance resolution provide an appropriate and adequate description of the roles of the Chancellor, Senate and Vice Chancellor. <sup>329</sup>

**7.36** Ms Rytmeister pointed out that the recent conflict over governance roles at the University of New England was anomalous and thus should not be the trigger for substantive legislative change.<sup>330</sup>

## Opposition to further prescription of governance roles

**7.37** Several participants felt that individual universities should be able to determine whether or not they need to further clarify their governance roles, rather than this being imposed on them. As Dr Robin Fitzsimons told the Committee:

At the end of the day, I respectfully submit that these are situations for each university governing body to sort out, each bearing in mind its own history and mission ... The nuances of the duties of Chancellor and relationships with the governing body and Vice Chancellor are for the governing body of each university to decide ...and not one which the government should normally seek to influence".<sup>331</sup>

- <sup>329</sup> Submission 7, p 3
- <sup>330</sup> Submission 20, p 74
- <sup>331</sup> Submission 21, pp 3-5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Submission 2, New South Wales Vice-Chancellors' Committee, p 4 (the joint submission from the University Chancellor's Council - Universities Australia to the Review of National Governance Protocols was provided to the committee as part of the Submission 2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> Submission 2, p1

- **7.38** The National Tertiary Education Union does not support 'legislating specific roles, functions and duties for governing bodies, its membership, Chancellors and Vice-Chancellors' because it would mean adopting an inflexible, 'one size fits all' approach.<sup>332</sup>
- **7.39** The University of New South Wales Student Representative Council similarly recommended that, if there is any uncertainty in legislation regarding the scope of any role, 'a university should be required to set out how it defines the role and communicate this through its by laws or rules', rather than legislation.<sup>333</sup>

### Tension between governance roles

- **7.40** Some inquiry participants commented that demarcation disputes between actors in governance arrangements, particularly Chancellors and the governing body, were inevitable and in some circumstances may actually be productive.
- 7.41 Dr Fitzimons noted that while in theory Chancellors and Vice-Chancellors should not interfere in each other's domains, is often very difficult to abide by this principle in practice:

Whereas it is generally true that 'managers manage and directors direct' this belies a complexity of interactions; it is also true that the balance of responsibilities will vary from time to time according to relative strengths and weaknesses of the CEO and the Board.<sup>334</sup>

7.42 Ms Rytmeister's research also demonstrated that tensions between the boundaries of governance roles are inevitable and not necessarily harmful:

Given the different perspectives and backgrounds of governing body members, a certain level of tension around roles is inevitable, but this only rarely translates into overt conflict ... Tension and conflict are not necessarily problematic if there remains a sufficient level of mutual respect and trust among the membership.<sup>335</sup>

**7.43** According to Professor Hilmer, 'The lines [between Council and management] are always going to be blurred. It is never crystal clear and it needs people of skill coming back and understanding with goodwill to make them work'.<sup>336</sup> A healthy governance culture is therefore critical.

- <sup>333</sup> Submission 25, Arc University of New South Wales, p 7
- <sup>334</sup> Submission 21, p 3
- <sup>335</sup> Submission 20, pp 13-14
- <sup>336</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> Submission 23, p 6

## The importance of a healthy governance culture

- 7.44 Several inquiry participants pointed out the importance of a healthy governance culture as a critical component of effective governance. In the academic literature on governance, cultural issues: namely the behaviour and actions of governing bodies and their members, are often referred to as 'soft' governance, whereas the legislation and structures that regulate a governing body are described as 'hard' governance.
- 7.45 The Australian Institute of Company Directors advised that cultural issues were just as important for an effective governance structure as 'hard governance':

Cultural issues are as important as structural and procedural ones for a governing body. Trust, respect and engagement amongst governing body members directly impact the governing body's effectiveness, as does the relationship between the chair (Chancellor) and the chief executive officer (Vice Chancellor). Without this constructive context, the formal legal requirements will not lead to an effective governing body.<sup>337</sup>

**7.46** Ms Rytmeister also stressed the importance of relationships and values in effective governance:

My findings confirm those of many authors in the corporate governance field who have emphasised that compliance with codes of practice, guidelines, regulation and legislation, while it may be necessary, is of itself insufficient to ensure effective organisational governance. Governing body culture, the values, behaviours, experience and expertise of members, and the interactions and relationships between these individuals are far more important factors in determining the nature and effectiveness of governance practice.<sup>338</sup>

7.47 Ms Rytmeister believes there are problems inherent in seeking to overdefine governance roles:

...I would not like to see some very prescriptive legislation that shifts the focus onto people saying, "Oh, do the rules so we can do this or do the rules say we cannot?," rather than saying, "The vice Chancellor and the Chancellor have negotiated boundaries between them and that is very transparent tp the council or the governing body. People understand it, people know where the grey areas are and we have a way of dealing with those because we have discussed them ... <sup>339</sup>.

**7.48** Dr Maxine Darnell, the President of the National Tertiary Education Union (University of New England Branch), told the Committee, that 'the clarification of roles can only partially be set by legislation' because effective governance depends on 'personalities within those roles'.<sup>340</sup>

<sup>340</sup> Dr Maxine Darnell, President, National Tertiary Education Union (University of New England Branch), Evidence, 17 March 2009, p 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> Submission 18, p 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> Submission 20, p 11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> Ms Rytmeister, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p13

**7.49** Mr Warwick Watkins, the Deputy Chancellor of the University of Technology, Sydney, also emphasised the importance of the cultural aspects of effective governance:

Irrespective of whatever structure is in place, whether it be a university or some other area, you can legislate and write things down, but the real measure of performance is based around goodwill, partnerships and the way in which people undertake their activities. Nothing will ever replace that.<sup>341</sup>

**7.50** A similar view was held by Mr Phillips, the Chancellor of the University of Western Sydney, explained that the personality of governing body members is as important as their qualifications:

On top of everything else, apart from the qualifications, people have to be able to work together. They have to be able to speak their mind, argue their point of view, and at the end of the day work together. If you get people with overweening ambition or they too strong a sense of vanity, they will never make a good member.<sup>342</sup>

## **Committee comment**

- **7.51** The respective roles and duties of the members of a university governing body are well understood by members of university governing bodies. The committee does not believe there is a need to amend the university Acts to further clarify roles. As several witnesses have emphasised, social and cultural processes are more meaningful in developing members' understanding of their roles than legislation and regulation. Individual institutions can adjust their own by-laws, resolutions or rules if they feel the need for further clarification, as some universities have done in recent years.
- **7.52** Disputes regarding the delineation of duties between governing body members, particularly a Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor, are relatively infrequent, and are not inherently unhealthy if they are resolved within a culture that allows for open discussion, mutual trust and respect.
- **7.53** Recruitment of governing body members and in particular, choosing a Chancellor who will respect the boundaries of their position is also crucially important in preventing destructive disputes about role boundaries. There may be occasions when a dispute between the governing body and its Chancellor are cannot be resolved. In such cases universities need an effective and timely means of removing a Chancellor in whom it has lost confidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor, University of Technology, Sydney, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p 27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> Mr Phillips, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 3

# Appendix 1 Submissions

No	Author						
1	Confidential						
2	NSW Vice-Chancellors' Committee						
3	Dr Carol O'Donnell						
3a	Dr Carol O'Donnell – Supplementary submission						
4	LH Martin Institute for Higher Education Leadership and Management						
5	Name suppressed						
6	Charles Sturt University						
7	The University of Sydney						
8	The University of Technology Sydney						
9	Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations						
10	Dr Jessica Milner Davies						
11	Australian Universities Quality Agency						
12	University of New South Wales						
13	National Institute for Governance						
14	University of New England						
15	Confidential						
16	UNSW Alumni Association						
17	Student Representative Council, University of Sydney						
18	Australian Institute of Company Directors						
19	CPSU-SPSF NSW Branch/Public Service Association						
20	Ms Catherine Rytmeister						
21	Dr Robin Fitzsimons						
22	Dr Tim Battin						
23	National Tertiary Education Industry Union, NSW Branch						
24	Council Of Australian Postgraduate Associations Incorporated						
25	Arc, University of New South Wales						
26	Confidential						
27	Mr John Cassidy						
28	Dr Herman Beyersdorf						
29	Associate Professor Jeanne Madison						
30	National Tertiary Education Union, University of New England Branch						
31	Rev Judith Redman						

No	Author
32	Professor Eilis Magner
33	Ms Kay Hempsall
34	National Tertiary Education Union, UWS Branch
35	Associate Professor John Carmody
36	Dr Charles Richard Watson

# Appendix 2 Witnesses

Date	Name	Position and Organisation
26 February 2009, Jubilee Room Parliament House	Mr John Phillips AO	Convenor, University Chancellors' Council
	Mr James Swansson	Researcher, National Institute of Governance, University of Canberra
	Professor Fred Hilmer AO	Convenor, NSW Vice-Chancellors' Committee
	Ms Genevieve Kelly	Secretary, National Tertiary Education Union, NSW Division
	Ms Amanda McCormack	Organiser, National Tertiary Education Union, NSW Division
	Mr Mark Dolahenty	Senior Industrial Officer, National Tertiary Education Union, NSW Division
	Mr Leonard Palmer	President, National Tertiary Education Union, NSW Division
	Dr Rudi Lidl	Audit Director, Australian Universities Quality Association
	Mr Noah White	President, Student Representative Council, University of Sydney
	Mr James Campbell	Caseworker and Policy Officer, Student Representative Council, University of Sydney
17 March 2008, Oralla Centre, University of New England	Ms Kay Hempsall	Member, University of New England Council & Manager, Organisational Development, University of New England – appearing in an individual capacity
	Dr Maxine Darnell	President, University of New England Branch, National Tertiary Education Union
	Mr Mark Dolahenty	Senior Industrial Officer, National Tertiary Education Union, NSW Division
	Dr Herman Beyersdorf	Former Member, University of New England Council – appearing in an individual capacity
	Rev Judy Redman	Former Member, University of New England Council – appearing in an individual capacity
	Associate Professor Jeanne Madison	Member, University of New England Council – appearing in an individual capacity

Date	Name	Position and Organisation			
	Professor Eilis Magner	Chair, Academic Board, University of New England – appearing in an individual capacity			
23 March 2009, Conference Rooms 1 & 2, Darlington Centre,	Dr Michael Spence	Vice-Chancellor, The University of Sydney			
The University of Sydney	Mr Alan Cameron	Deputy Chancellor, The University of Sydney			
	Ms Catherine Rytmeister	Lecturer in Higher Education Development and PhD student, Macquarie University			
	Dr Jessica Milner Davies	Former member of a university governing body			
	Mr Warwick Watkins	Deputy Chancellor, University of Technology, Sydney			
	Dr Robin Fitzsimons	Fellow, The University of Sydney Senate – appearing in an individual capacity			
3 April 2009, Jubilee Room, Parliament House	Mr John Cassidy	Former Chancellor, University of New England			

# Appendix 3 Site visits

Date	Location
17 March 2009	Ooralla Lecture Theatre, University of New England, Armidale
23 March 2009	Conference Rooms 1 & 2, The University of Sydney, Darlington

## Appendix 4 Tabled documents

## Thursday 26 February 2009 Public Hearing, Jubilee Room, Parliament House

1. Table of University Acts - tendered by Dr James Swansson

## Monday 23 March 2009 Public Hearing, Conference Rooms 1 & 2, Darlington Centre, The University of Sydney

- 2. The challenge of the 'representational board' tendered by Mr Alan Cameron
- 3. Auditor-General's Report to Parliament 2004 Volume Four tendered by Dr Jessica Milner Davies
- 4. Auditor-General's Report to Parliament 2005 Volume Two tendered by Dr Jessica Milner Davies
- 5. Graduation and Other Selected Addresses tendered by Dr Robin Fitzsimons

## Appendix 5 Size and composition of university governing bodies in NSW

University	Ex-officio members	Members appointed by the Minister	Members appointed by the governing body <sup>1343</sup>	No. of Academic Staff	No. of Non - Academic Staff	No. of Under- Graduate Students	No. of Post- Graduate Students	No. of Alumni or Convoc- ation	No. of members required by legislation	Total no. of members
				INTE	RNAL REP	RESENTAT	TIVES	members		
UNE	3	6	<b>2</b> (1)	2	1	1	1	<b>2</b> (1)	16	18
UNSW	3	6	2 (1)	4	1	1	1	<b>4</b> (4)	21	22
Sydney	3	6	<b>1</b> (1)	4	1	1	1	<b>5</b> (5)	22	22
UTS	3	6	4 (1)	2	1	1	1	<b>2</b> (1)	16	20
UWS	3	6	4 (1)	1	1	1	1	1 (1)	15	18
Macquarie	3	6	1 (1)	3	1	1	2	<b>4</b> (1)	16	19
Charles Sturt	3	6	<b>3</b> (1)	2	1	4	2	<b>1</b> (1)	16	18
Wollongong	3	6	<b>3</b> (1)	2	1	1	1	<b>2</b> (1)	16	19
Newcastle	3	6	1 (1)	2	1	1	1	<b>4</b> (1)	16	19
Southern Cross	3	6	<b>2</b> (1)	2	1		1	<b>1</b> (1)	15	16

<sup>1</sup> Numbers in brackets indicate the minimum representation required by the legislation. Numbers in bold indicate the current representation in the category.

<sup>2</sup> The legislation provides for a student representative. It does not differentiate between undergraduate and post-graduate students.

## Appendix 6 Remuneration provisions for Victorian universities <sup>1</sup>

University	Band	Year introduced	Member p.a.	Chair p.a.
Melbourne	Band 3 (Group A)	2006	\$15,500	\$19,500
RMIT	Band 4 (Group A)	2004	\$13,000	\$16,250
Victoria	Band 5 (Group A)	2004	\$9,000	\$11,250
La Trobe	Band 5 (Group A)	2006	\$9,000	\$11,250
Swinburne	Band 5 (Group A)	2006	\$9,000	\$11,250
Ballarat	Band 5 (Group A)	2007	\$9,000	\$11,250

Email from Mr Ian Gribble, Manager, Governance Unit, Victorian Department of Innovation, Industry and Regional Development, to Principal Council Officer, 11 May 2009

## Appendix 7 Minutes

#### Minutes No. 24

Monday, 13 October 2008 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 Jubilee Room, Parliament House, Sydney, at 9.03 am

#### 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)* Mr Greg Donnelly Dr John Kaye (Rhiannon) Rev Dr Gordon Moyes (from 9.15 am) Mrs Melinda Pavey (Ficarra) Mr Mick Veitch (Catanzariti)

#### 2. Substitute members

The Chair advised that she had received written advice that the following members would be substituting for the purposes of this hearing:

- Dr Kaye to substitute for Ms Rhiannon
- Mrs Pavey to substitute for Ms Ficarra
- Mr Veitch to substitute for Mr Catanzariti

#### 3. Correspondence

The Committee noted the following item of correspondence received:

• 7 October 2008 – Letter from Ms Robertson, Ms Parker and Ms Rhiannon requesting a meeting of GPSC2 to consider a proposed self reference into the governance of NSW Universities.

\*\*\*

#### 4. Consideration of proposed self reference – the governance of NSW Universities

The Chair tabled a letter to the Clerk of the Committee signed by Ms Robertson, Ms Parker and Ms Rhiannon requesting a meeting of GPSC2 to consider a proposed self reference into the governance of NSW Universities.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That the Committee adopt the following terms of reference:

That the General Purpose Standing Committee No 2 inquire into and report on the current state of governance of NSW universities and in particular,

- a) Any apparent lack of clarity in the roles of governing bodies and Vice-Chancellors and the consequential opportunities for conflict,
- b) Any apparent lack of clarity in the delineation of duties of governing bodies and the Chancellors,
- c) Identification of the roles and responsibilities of the Vice-Chancellor, the governing body and the Chancellor in relation to the formation of University policy and grievance procedures, and the communication of such policies to the student body,
- d) The appropriateness of changes in the duties and responsibilities of governing body members,
- e) Opportunities for governing bodies and chancellors to intervene in the responsibilities that more properly lie with the Vice-Chancellor as Chief Executive Officer,
- f) Current and possible future mechanisms for reviewing the performance of chancellors and governing body members in discharging their responsibilities,
- g) Protocols for addressing poor performance of chancellors and governing body members,

- h) The representation on governing bodies, and their committees, of staff and students and the current and appropriate balance between external members and elected representatives, and
- i) Proposals for changes to the various acts governing NSW universities and to the National Higher Education Governance Protocols to address any systemic causes found.
- j) Any other related matter.

#### 5. \*\*\*

6. \*\*\*

#### 7. Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 1.04 pm until Monday, 13 October 2008 at 2.00pm.

Stephen Frappell Clerk to the Committee

#### Minutes No. 27

Tuesday 14 October 2008 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 Room 1102, Parliament House, 9.00am

#### 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)* Mr Tony Catanzariti Ms Lee Rhiannon Mr Greg Donnelly Ms Marie Ficarra Rev Dr Gordon Moyes

#### 2. Previous minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Rhiannon: That draft Minutes No. 22 and 23 be confirmed.

#### 3. \*\*\*

#### 4. Inquiry into the governance of NSW Universities

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That the Committee advertise the inquiry terms of reference in the relevant Sydney metropolitan media and specialist university publications.

#### 5. \*\*\*

#### 6. Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 5:55 pm

Beverly Duffy **Clerk to the Committee** 

### Minutes No. 31

Friday, 24 October 2008 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 Room 814/815, Parliament House, Sydney, at 9.30 am

#### 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)* Mr Ian Cohen (Rhiannon) Mr Greg Donnelly Ms Marie Ficarra Ms Kayee Griffin (Catanzariti)

#### 2. Apologies

Rev Dr Gordon Moyes

#### 3. Substitute members

The Chair advised that she had received written advice that the following members would be substituting for the purposes of this hearing:

• Ms Griffin to substitute for Mr Catanzariti

#### 4. Correspondence

The Committee noted the following items of correspondence:

#### Received

• 15 October 2008 - Email from Ms Rhiannon advising that Dr Kaye will be substituting for Ms Rhiannon for the duration of the inquiry into the governance of NSW universities.

\*\*\*

#### 5. \*\*\*

6. Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 11:30 am

Beverly Duffy Clerk to the Committee

#### Minutes No. 32

Wednesday 12 November 2008 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 Members' Lounge, Parliament House, Sydney, at 10.30 am

#### 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker (Chair) Ms Christine Robertson (Deputy Chair) Mr Tony Catanzariti Mr Greg Donnelly Ms Marie Ficarra Dr John Kaye Revd Dr Gordon Moyes

#### 2. Minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That draft minutes no. 31 be confirmed.

#### 3. \*\*\*

#### 4. Inquiry into the governance of NSW universities

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That the timetable be amended to include a half-day public hearing on site at Sydney University, and to reflect that other committee commitments some members are not available on 18 and 19 March 2008, and that the Committee reconsider an amended schedule to be prepared by the Secretariat.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That the stakeholder letter to each University Council request that the letter be circulated to each member of the Council.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Moyes: That the Committee write to the stakeholders identified by the Secretariat, as well as any additional stakeholders identified by Committee members and notified to the Secretariat by 5 pm Friday 14 November, informing them of the Inquiry and inviting them to make a submission.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That the selection of witnesses be left in the hands of the Chair, in consultation with Committee members.

#### 5. \*\*\*

6. \*\*\*

7.

Adjournment The Committee adjourned at 10.57 am.

> Madeleine Foley Clerk to the Committee

#### Minutes No. 37

Thursday 26 February 2009 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 Jubilee Room, Parliament House, Sydney, at 10 am

#### 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker (Chair) Ms Christine Robertson (Deputy Chair) Mr Tony Catanzariti Mr Greg Donnelly Ms Marie Ficarra Dr John Kaye (Rhiannon) Dr Gordon Moyes

#### 2. Minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That draft minutes no. 36 be confirmed.

#### 3. Inquiry into university governance – statement of members' affiliations

Mr Catanzariti informed the Committee that he is a member of the Charles Sturt University Council.

Dr Kaye informed the Committee that he is a member of the National Tertiary Education Union.

Ms Robertson informed the Committee that she was a member of the University of New England Council from May 2003 to December 2004.

Mr Catanzariti, Dr Kaye and Ms Robertson asked the Chair that their affiliations be placed on the public record during the hearing, and be noted in the Committee's report on university governance.

#### 4. Correspondence

The Committee noted the following items of correspondence received:

\*\*\*

- 18 February 2009 From Oates & Smith Solicitors, representing John Cassidy, former Chancellor of the University of New England, requesting an extension to make a submission
- 16 February 2009 From Professor Alan Pettigrew, Vice Chancellor and CEO, University of New England, advising that he does not wish to appear before the Committee at a public hearing.

\*\*\*

#### 5. \*\*\*

6. Inquiry into governance of NSW universities: Publication of submissions

The Committee considered submission no.'s 1 to 26, which had been previously circulated.
Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That the Committee authorise the Secretariat to distribute hard copies of confidential submissions, provided that the submissions are copied on red paper.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That, according to section 4 of the *Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975* and standing order 223(1), the Committee authorise the publication of submission no.'s 2-4, 7-11, 13-14, 16-21, 23-25.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That the Committee defer consideration of submission no. 22.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That, according to section 4 of the *Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975* and standing order 223(1), the Committee authorise the publication of submission no.'s 6 and 12 but that the attachments be kept confidential at the request of the author.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That, according to section 4 of the *Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975* and standing order 223(1), the Committee authorise the publication of submission no. 5 with the author's name and other identifying information omitted at the request of the author.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That submission no.'s 1 and 26 be kept confidential at the request of the authors.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Catanzariti: That the Committee defer consideration of submission no. 15.

### 7. Inquiry into governance of NSW universities: Site visits

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Moyes: That the Committee invite the following witnesses to the hearings at the University of New England on 17 March and the University of Sydney on 23 March 2009, as well as any additional witnesses identified by Committee members and notified to the Secretariat by 5 pm Monday 2 March, subject to consultation with Committee members regarding additional witnesses nominated by Committee members:

- The Hon Richard Torbay MP, Chancellor, University of New England (UNE)
- Ms Zeri Hudaverdi, President, UNE Branch of the National Tertiary Education Union
- Ms Kay Hempsall, current member of the UNE Council
- Dr James Harris, current member of the UNE Council
- Revd Judy Redman, former member of the UNE Council
- Professor Victor Minichiello, Pro-Vice Chancellor and Dean of the Faculty of The Professions, UNE
- Professor Graham Webb, Deputy Vice Chancellor, UNE
- Dr Michael Spence, Vice Chancellor and Mr Alan Cameron, Deputy Chancellor, University of Sydney
- Dr Robin Fitzsimons, Fellow of the Sydney University Senate.

#### 8. Inquiry into governance of NSW universities: Public hearing

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That the Committee request that the answers to any questions taken on notice be returned within two weeks from the date on which they are sent.

Witnesses, the public and the media were admitted.

The Chair made an opening statement regarding the broadcasting of proceedings and other matters.

Mr John Phillips, Convenor of the University Chancellors' Council and Chancellor of the University of Western Sydney, was sworn and examined.

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

Dr James Swansson, Researcher, National Institute of Governance, was sworn and examined. Dr Swansson tendered a document relating to the governance arrangements outlined in universities' enabling legislation.

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Catanzariti: That, according to section 4 of the *Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975* and standing order 223(1), the Committee accept and publish the document tendered by Dr Swansson relating to the governance arrangements outlined in universities' enabling legislation.

Professor Fred Hilmer, Convenor of the NSW Vice-Chancellors' Committee and Vice-Chancellor and President of the University of New South Wales, was sworn and examined.

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The following witnesses from the NSW Division of the National Tertiary Education Union were sworn and examined:

- Dr Len Palmer, President
- Ms Genevieve Kelly, Secretary
- Ms Amanda McCormack, Organiser
- Mr Mark Dolahenty, Senior Industrial Officer.

The evidence concluded and the witnesses withdrew.

Dr Rudi Lidl, Audit Director, Australian Universities' Quality Association, was sworn and examined.

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The following witnesses from the Sydney University Student Representative Council, representing the National Union of Students, were sworn and examined:

- Mr Noah White, President
- Mr James Campell, Caseworker and Policy Officer.

The evidence concluded and the witnesses withdrew.

The public hearing concluded at 4.45 pm. The public and the media withdrew.

#### 9. Deliberative meeting

The Committee considered submission no. 27, which having been received this day, was circulated to the Committee.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Moyes: That, according to section 4 of the *Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975* and standing order 223(1), the Committee authorise the publication of submission no.'s 22 and 27 with the omission of potential adverse mention, subject to the amended versions being circulated to the Committee.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That, subject to the agreement of the author, the Committee forward submission no. 15 to both the NSW Attorney General and the Minister for Education and Training, and ask them to respond to the matters raised.

# 10. Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 4.55 pm until 2.15 pm Monday 16 March 2009 (site visit to Armidale)

Madeleine Foley Clerk to the Committee

#### Minutes No. 38

Tuesday 17 March 2009 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 University of New England, Armidale at 8.30 am

# 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)*  Ms Penny Sharpe (Catanzariti) Mr Greg Donnelly Ms Marie Ficarra Dr John Kaye (Rhiannon) Dr Gordon Moyes

#### 2. Substitutions

The Chair advised that she had received written advice from the Government Whip that Ms Sharpe would be substituting for Mr Catanzariti for the purpose of the public hearing at the University of New England.

#### 3. Minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That draft minutes no. 37 be confirmed.

#### 4. Correspondence

The Committee noted the following items of correspondence received:

• 6 March 2009 – From Andrew Rolfe, Director, Higher Education, NSW Department of Education and Training, to the Committee Director, providing background information to assist the Secretariat with the University Governance Inquiry

\*\*\*

• 10 March 2009 – From James Swansson, Researcher, National Institute of Governance, to the Principal Council Officer, providing papers on how to evaluate the performance of boards and councils.

The Committee noted the following items of correspondence sent:

- 4 March 2009 From the Chair to Verity Firth MP, Minister for Education and Training, regarding submission no. 15 to the Inquiry into university governance
- 4 March 2009 From the Chair to John Hatzistergos MLC, Attorney General, regarding submission no. 15 to the Inquiry into university governance

#### 5. University governance inquiry: Publication of submissions

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That, according to section 4 of the *Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975* and standing order 223(1), the Committee authorise the publication of submission no.'s 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33 and 34.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Donnelly: That the Committee invite the former Chancellor of the University of New England, Mr John Cassidy, to provide in camera evidence to the Committee at 9am on 3 April 2009, with a view to publishing his evidence after the hearing, and that Mr Cassidy be given the opportunity to be accompanied by a support person.

#### 6. \*\*\*

# 7. Inquiry into governance of NSW universities: Tour of Booloominbah Homestead

The A/Chief Operating Officer of the University of New England, Mr Mike Quinlan, accompanied Committee members on a tour of Booloominbah Homestead and nearby campus facilities.

8. Inquiry into governance of NSW universities: Public hearing at the UNE, Armidale Witnesses, the public and the media were admitted.

The Chair made an opening statement regarding adverse mention, members' affiliation, the broadcasting of proceedings and other matters.

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Ms Kay Hempsall, Member, University of New England Council & Manager, Organisational Development, University of New England

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The following witnesses were sworn and examined:

• Dr Maxine Darnell President, University of New England Branch, National Tertiary Education Union and Mr Mark Dolahenty Senior Industrial Officer, NSW Division, National Tertiary Education Union (under previous oath)

The evidence concluded and the witnesses withdrew.

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Dr Herman Beyersdorf, former Member, University of New England Council, was sworn and examined.

Dr Beyersdorf tabled a document relating to the role of Vice Chancellors.

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The public and the media withdrew.

#### 9. Deliberative meeting

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That the Committee decline a request to give in camera evidence received from an individual not scheduled to appear at the public hearing, and to invite this person to provide a confidential submission to the Inquiry.

# **10. Inquiry into governance of NSW universities: Public hearing (Cont'd)** Witnesses, the public and the media were admitted.

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Revd Judith Redman, former Member, University of New England Council

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Associate Professor Jeanne Madison, Member, University of New England Council

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Professor Eilis Magner Chair, Academic Board, University of New England

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The public hearing concluded at 3.30 pm. The public and the media withdrew.

# 11. Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 3.30 pm.

Beverly Duffy Clerk to the Committee

## Minutes No. 39

Monday 23 March 2009 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 University of Sydney at 9.00am

#### 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)* Mr Tony Catanzariti Mr Greg Donnelly Ms Marie Ficarra Dr John Kaye (Rhiannon) Dr Gordon Moyes

# 2. University governance inquiry: Public hearing at Sydney University

Witnesses, the public and the media were admitted.

The Chair made an opening statement regarding members' affiliations, the broadcasting of proceedings and other matters.

The following witnesses from the University of Sydney were sworn and examined:

- Dr Michael Spence, Vice Chancellor
- Mr Alan Cameron, Deputy Chancellor.

The evidence concluded and the witnesses withdrew.

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Ms Catherine Rytmeister, Lecturer in Higher Education and Phd Student.

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Dr Jessica Milner Davis, former member of a university governing body.

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Mr Warwick Watkins, Deputy Chancellor, University of Technology, Sydney.

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The following witness was sworn and examined:

• Dr Robin Fitzsimons, fellow, USYD Senate (appearing in an individual capacity).

The evidence concluded and the witness withdrew.

The public hearing concluded at 1.00 pm. The public and the media withdrew.

# 3. Deliberative meeting

#### Minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That Item 5 of draft Minutes No. 38 be amended by omitting the words 'Dr Kaye' prior to the second resolution and inserting instead 'Mr Donnelly'.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That draft minutes no. 38, as amended, be confirmed.

# University governance inquiry: Publication of submissions

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That, according to section 4 of the Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975 and standing order 223(1), the Committee authorise the publication of submission no. 35.

## *University governance inquiry – transcript*

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That the Committee defer publication of the transcript of the evidence from Dr Milner Davis until the Secretariat has had an opportunity to confer with Dr Milner Davis about aspects of her evidence.

# 4. Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 1.10 pm.

Beverly Duffy **Clerk to the Committee** 

# Minutes No. 40

Wednesday 25 March 2009 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 2.05 pm, Room 1102, Parliament House

# 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)* Mr Greg Donnelly Ms Marie Ficarra Dr John Kaye (Rhiannon) Dr Gordon Moyes

## 2. Apologies

Mr Catanzariti

# 3. Minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Donnelly: That draft Minutes No. 39 be confirmed.

#### 4. Correspondence

The Committee noted the following items of correspondence:

#### Received

\*\*\*

• 19 March 2009 – from Oates and Smith Solicitors, on behalf of Mr John Cassidy, accepting the Committee's invitation to attend the hearing on 3 April 2009

\*\*\*

5. University Governance Inquiry Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That submission no 36 remain confidential to the Committee.

# 6. \*\*\*

7.

Adjournment The Committee adjourned at 2.20 pm.

Beverly Duffy **Clerk to the Committee** 

# Minutes No. 41

Friday 3 April 2009 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 9.15 am, Room 1102, Parliament House

#### 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)* Mr Tony Catanzairiti (until 9.40 am) Ms Marie Ficarra Dr John Kaye (Rhiannon)

#### 2. Apologies

Mr Greg Donnelly Revd Dr Gordon Moyes

#### 3. University Governance: In-camera hearing

The Committee proceeded to take *in camera* evidence from Mr John Cassidy. Mr Cassidy was accompanied by his legal advisor Mr Ian Temby QC, in accordance with the Committee's previous resolution that Mr Cassidy be given the opportunity to be accompanied by a support person.

Persons present other than the Committee: Ms Beverly Duffy, Ms Madeleine Foley, Ms Kate Mihaljek and Mr Ian Thackeray of the Committee Secretariat, and Ms Jenny Drury of CAT Reporters.

The Chair made an opening statement regarding legal representation of witnesses and other matters.

Mr Cassidy was sworn and examined.

Evidence concluded and the witness and his legal advisor withdrew.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That, in the public interest and at the request of the witness, and according to section 4 of the *Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975* and Standing Order 223(2), the Committee authorise the publication of the *in camera* transcript of evidence of Mr John Cassidy.

#### 4. Previous Minutes

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That draft Minutes No. 40 be confirmed.

#### 5. \*\*\*

#### 6. University Governance Inquiry: Publication of submissions

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That, according to section 4 of the *Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975* and standing order 223(1), the Committee authorise the publication of submission no. 36.

- 7. \*\*\*
- 8. \*\*\*

#### 9. Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 10.15 am.

Madeleine Foley Clerk to the Committee

Minutes No. 43 Monday 11 April 2009 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 9.30 am, Room 814/815, Parliament House

#### 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)* Mr Greg Donnelly (until 12.45pm) Ms Marie Ficarra Dr John Kaye (Rhiannon) Ms Lynda Voltz (Catanzariti) (until 12.45pm)

## 2. Apologies

Mr Donnelly from 1.30 pm Ms Voltz from 1.30 pm

## 3. \*\*\*

# 4. Deliberative meeting

# Correspondence

The Committee noted the following correspondence.

### Received

\*\*\*

 17 April 2009 – From Dr Robin Fitzsimons, Fellow, The University of Sydney, providing an answer to a question taken on notice from the University Governance Inquiry hearing on 23 March 2009

• 5 May 2009 – From the Hon John Hatzistergos MLC, Attorney General, to the Chair, advising that he is unable to provide advice on the concerns raised in submission no. 15 to the University Governance Inquiry because they relate to a private legal dispute

\*\*\*

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That, according to section 4 of the Parliamentary Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975 and standing order 223(1), the Committee authorise the publication of the responses to questions on notice from Dr Robin Fitzsimons, Mr John Dalgleish and Mr David McKie.

\*\*\*

\*\*\*

\*\*\*

\*\*\*

# University Governance

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Moyes: That the Secretariat be empowered to email the Chair's report for the University Governance Inquiry to those members who request to receive the report in this manner.

# 5. \*\*\*

# 6. Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 4:05pm.

Madeleine Foley Clerk to the Committee

# **DRAFT** Minutes No. 46

Monday 25 May 2009 General Purpose Standing Committee No. 2 10.05 am, Room 1102, Parliament House

# 1. Members present

Ms Robyn Parker *(Chair)* Ms Christine Robertson *(Deputy Chair)* Mr Tony Catanzariti Mr Greg Donnelly Ms Marie Ficarra Dr John Kaye (Rhiannon) Dr Gordon Moyes

## 2. Minutes

Resolved on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That Item 7 of Minutes No. 44 be amended by inserting the words 'regarding the power of Committees to act when it has not adopted terms of reference for an inquiry' after 'Clerk'.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That draft Minutes No. 44, as amended, be confirmed.

3. \*\*\*

4. \*\*\*

#### 5. University Governance Inquiry: Chair's draft report

The Chair tabled her draft report entitled *Governance of NSW universities*, which, having been previously circulated, was taken as being read.

The Chair tabled amendments to Chapter 2 of her draft report, which were previously circulated.

Chapter 1 read.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That Chapter 1 be adopted.

Chapter 2 read.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That paragraph 2.5 be amended by omitting the word 'viable' and inserting instead 'focused'.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That the following recommendation be inserted after paragraph 2.46 'That the Minister investigate the most appropriate method to ensure the full disclosure of the terms and conditions of employment contracts for university staff.'

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Moyes: That Chapter 2, as amended, be adopted.

Chapter 3 read.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Donnelly: That Chapter 3 be adopted.

Chapter 4 read.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That the introduction be amended by inserting the word 'some' before 'raised' and omitting the word 'some' before 'aspects'.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That paragraph 4.13 be deleted.

Resolved on the motion of Dr Kaye: That paragraph 4.42 be amended by omitting the word 'a' and inserting instead 'an alleged' before 'tendency'

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That Recommendation 1 be amended by omitting the word 'reduce' and inserting instead 'with respect to', and omitting the words 'from four to one' and inserting instead 'in line with other universities'.

Mr Donnelly moved: That Recommendation 2 be adopted.

Question put and passed.

On the question being put, Dr Kaye, being the only member voting for the noes, asked for his vote to be recorded in the Minutes.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Moyes: That Recommendation 3 and paragraph 4.102 be omitted.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Donnelly: That Recommendation 4 and paragraph 4.103 be omitted.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Catanzariti: That Recommendation 5 be amended by inserting 'with half the number being retired at each election' after 'two years'.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Moyes: That the Secretariat be authorised to revise all Committee Comment sections to reflect new or amended recommendations.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That Chapter 4, as amended, be adopted.

Chapter 5 read.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That Recommendation 6 be adopted.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That paragraph 5.25 be amended by inserting the following sentence at the end of the paragraph: 'The Committee urges the Minister to recommend to university governing bodies that they investigate separating risk management considerations from the work of an audit committee,' and that the following recommendation be inserted following paragraph 5.25: 'That the Minister for Education and Training recommend to university governing bodies that they investigate separating risk management considerations from the work of an audit committee,' and that the following neuroperative separating risk management considerations from the work of an audit committee.'

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That the following recommendation be inserted after paragraph 5.36 'That the Minister investigate whether the inappropriate application of material interest declaration provisions is being used to exclude individuals from governing body debates on the grounds of the nature of their appointments to that governing body.'

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That Chapter 5, as amended, be adopted.

Chapter 6 read.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Kaye: That Recommendation 9 be amended by inserting a fourth dot point as follows: 'designed to ensure access to institutional data' and by inserting a final sentence: 'That the findings of the review be published no later than December 2009'.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Ficarra: That Chapter 6, as amended, be adopted.

Chapter 7 read.

Mr Catanzariti left the meeting.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Donnelly: That the following paragraph be inserted after paragraph 7.26 'The definitions in the university Acts are clear that the roles of the Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor are distinct and not overlapping. The Committee notes that the language in the university Acts is clear that the Chancellor is the presiding member of the university.'

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That Chapter 7, as amended, be adopted.

Resolved, on the motion of Dr Moyes: That the Secretariat be authorised to amend the Summary of Key Issues to reflect the changes to the report.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That dissenting statements be submitted to the Secretariat 24 hours after the receipt of the Minutes.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That the draft report, as amended, be the report of the Committee.

Resolved, on the motion of Ms Robertson: That the Committee present the report to the House, together with transcripts of evidence, submissions, tabled documents, answers to questions on notice, minutes of proceedings and correspondence relating to the Inquiry, except for documents kept confidential by resolution of the Committee.

The Chair advised that she will circulate the Chair's Foreword upon its completion.

Resolved, on the motion of Mr Donnelly: That the report be tabled on Monday 1 June 2009 and a media conference be held on that day.

# 6.Adjournment

The Committee adjourned at 12.45 pm until Monday 22 June 2009 (hearing into bullying of children and young people).

Beverly Duffy Clerk to the Committee

# Appendix 8 Dissenting statement

# **DISSENTING STATEMENT – JOHN KAYE**

Recommendation 2 in the Chair's Draft Report is not supported. The committee adopted the recommendation which read as follows:

That the Minister for Education and Training amend the university Acts to provide all university governing bodies with the flexibility to either appoint or elect their alumni (or Convocation) members.

Implementation of this recommendation would have two main effects, both of which would be highly undesirable:

- disenfranchise alumni and convocation members who would no longer have a connection to the university through the opportunity to vote, and
- increase the extent to which university governing bodies are self-appointing and hence vulnerable to domination by a single interest group.

The recommendation contradicts evidence given to the inquiry about the importance of the alumni to a university. Removing the voting rights of former members of the university will lessen their sense of ownership and their willingness to contribute to the university, both materially and intellectually.

In an era of unreliability in government financial support for universities, it makes no sense to reduce ties to the alumni.

Transferring the right to select alumni representatives from democratic election to the university governing body not only disenfranchises former students. It also increases the potential for a majority faction of council to reduce diversity and cement itself in power in perpetuity.

Throughout history, self-selecting bodies have a poor track record in serving the organisations they govern. Self-selection inevitably leads to increased uniformity of views, a loss of diversity in the backgrounds and attitudes of members of the board and a decline in the value afforded to the opinion of the stakeholders.

The move towards self-selecting governing bodies is not justified by precedent in corporate affairs where boards are ultimately responsible to shareholders whose votes can reject board members at periodic elections.

Arguments in support of the recommendation include:

- the desirability of consistency across the state's universities,
- the need for governing bodies to recruit a range of skills that cannot be delivered by elections,
- the need to provide university government bodies with flexibility, and
- the relatively low proportion of eligible alumni members who vote.

In theory recommendation 2 would only affect the University of NSW and the University of Sydney, as other legislation in respect of all other institutions give governing bodies the choice between election and appointment. The Committee however heard evidence that Sydney would be unlikely to abandon elections even if it were provided with the legislated opportunity to do so.

Three of the remaining eight NSW universities that have the right to opt for either appointment or election, chose the more democratic option.

There is therefore no consistency in outcome.

Further, the desirability of uniformity has not been established. In fact, to the contrary, much of the evidence presented to the Committee spoke of the need for flexibility to adjust to the particular circumstances of each university and its community.

Governing bodies are already directly involved in the selection of the six members who are appointed by the minister, on the recommendation of the governing body itself.

Further, each university governing body is required to appoint at least one member and some chose to appoint up to four.

The legislation already gives university governing bodies adequate flexibility in its own membership to secure that it has the range of skills required to make informed quality decisions. Further flexibility is unnecessary.

The Committee received evidence that approximately 10,000 alumni of the University of Sydney voted,<sup>1</sup> while the figure at UNSW was 'something like 2,000 votes.<sup>2</sup>'

The evidence suggests that the University of Sydney has been more successful in engaging its alumni than UNSW. Rather than seeking to remove the democratic rights of its alumni, UNSW would be better served by seeking to learn from the University of Sydney to improve its relations with its former students.

John Kaye MLC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dr Robin Fitzsimmons, Fellow, The University of Sydney Senate, Evidence, 23 March 2009, p. 39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Professor Hilmer, Evidence, 26 February 2009, p 24